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INTRODUCTION: 007


On Her Majesty’s Secret Service.


Ian Fleming1


ON A BALMY summer evening in late July 2012 the world’s most famous intelligence officer arrived at Buckingham Palace in an iconic black cab. Dressed in his trademark tuxedo, he skipped up the central red staircase and, flanked by the royal corgis, entered a gilded room. At a desk in the corner sat Queen Elizabeth II. She kept him waiting; he glanced at the clock and coughed politely.


‘Good evening, Mr Bond,’ she said, turning to face him. ‘Good evening, your majesty,’ he quietly responded.


James Bond followed her as she made her way down the stairs and headed towards a helicopter waiting on the lawn outside. Moments later, Agent 007 and the queen jumped from the helicopter in a dramatic parachute drop down towards the Olympic stadium in east London. The crowd gasped as they vanished from sight, before Elizabeth reappeared, wearing the same pink dress, in the royal box. The sequence formed the highlight of the Olympic Games opening ceremony.


Organized by the Oscar-winning director Danny Boyle and partly filmed in Buckingham Palace, this masterpiece of deception involved the real queen, stunt doubles and cameo roles for three royal corgis, Monty, Holly and Willow. In over fifty years of Bond feature films, the paths of 007 and the royal family have frequently crossed. Prince Charles visited the Bond set at Pinewood Studios to the west of London in 2019. Photographs showed him inspecting the set and chatting to James Bond himself. More discreetly, producers borrowed some of the most striking interior designs featured in the iconic film Goldfinger from Princess Margaret’s palace. The early 007 films were known for their conspicuous consumption, high fashion, exotic air travel and the latest designs. Margaret’s abode fitted right in.


Few realize that these momentary connections are far from fantasy and instead capture a fleeting glance of Britain’s most secret partnership – the British monarchy and their secret services.


Surprisingly, the queen, like her predecessors, is no stranger to the real secret service. Even before her coronation, the young Princess Elizabeth had met two Albanian agents near a hidden MI6 training camp on Malta. Sporting Thompson submachine guns and training on secret transmitters, they were preparing to overthrow the communist government in Tirana. Shortly after ascending the throne in 1952, the queen was discussing a troublesome Middle Eastern leader with officials. She quipped about assassinating him.


The queen knows more state secrets than any living person – and, unlike her prime ministers, she keeps them. The queen is a human library of intelligence history. She knew about the British nuclear weapons programme at a remarkably early stage. And she knew more about the Soviet mole, Anthony Blunt, still in her employment as Surveyor of the Queen’s Pictures, than even the prime minister did. Later, she invited the CIA’s head of operations to Buckingham Palace to ask him how ‘my boys’ were treating him. The senior CIA officer was surprised that Elizabeth knew about his real job at all.


The queen has spent time in the SAS ‘Killing House’ in Hereford where special forces hone their deadly skills. She stood unflinching for the most part as operators trained with live ammunition for hostage rescue operations. Throughout her long reign, Elizabeth has met many heads of Britain’s intelligence agencies. When Stella Rimington, the first publicly named leader of MI5, attended lunch at Buckingham Palace, the royal household helped her to escape via an inconspicuous exit in order to avoid the assembled reporters desperate to know what a monarch might say to a spy chief.


The royal family and the secret services have much in common. They are two of Britain’s most important institutions. They are small and secretive, seen by many as ‘the establishment’. They feature prominently in the popular imagination. They are heavily mythologized and often misunderstood.
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THE SECRET ROYALS uncovers the remarkable relationship between the royal family and the intelligence community since the reign of Queen Victoria. It argues that modern intelligence grew out of persistent attempts to assassinate Victoria and then operated on a private and informal basis, drawing on close personal relationships between senior spies, the aristocracy and the monarchy. Moreover, it is a remarkable place where women rulers, rather more than men, are often playing the role of a royal ‘M’, standing at the centre of what has hitherto been assumed to be a masculine world.


Britain’s spies are ‘crown servants’ and, since the accession of Victoria in 1837, they have served mostly women at the top. Early in her career, Margaret Thatcher reflected on the symbolic importance of the young Queen Elizabeth, noting that it would ‘help to remove the last shreds of prejudice against women aspiring to the highest places’. Victoria does not seem to have shared her views, famously observing that ‘Feminists ought to get a good whipping.’


The mid-Victorian era was a period of political upheaval: royal intelligence channels clashed with amateur equivalents used by nation states; royals with multiple nationalities faced increasing suspicion from politicians; and monarchs used private sources to bypass their own Cabinets and protect their dynastic interests. Victoria was often at odds with her own government, for example over issues of surveillance, and used private royal intelligence sources to support – but also outmanoeuvre – government policy. She acted as intelligence gatherer, analyst and, in modern jargon, ‘consumer’. Her son, King Edward VII, had restricted access to intelligence when prince, largely because of fears of blackmail and poor security practices. Despite this, he tried to continue in a similar mould to Victoria when king, drawing on private family networks across the Continent.


In 1909, the first chief of MI6, Mansfield Cumming, proclaimed himself a servant of the king, not the prime minister. His successors’ royal connections often allowed them to move more easily in the royal court than in the corridors of Whitehall. This reached its apotheosis before the Russian Revolution when MI6 intervened to try to save the Russian tsar, the king’s cousin, from disaster. Afterwards, fearing a similar revolt in Britain, private networks provided King George V with intelligence on the loyalty of his own subjects.


In 1936, the dramatic abdication of Edward VIII formed a dangerous turning point. What originally started as family feuding over a romantic liaison with the American divorcee Wallis Simpson, escalated into a national security crisis. Fearing the couple’s Nazi sympathies as well as domestic instability, British spies turned their attention towards Edward, creating profound dilemmas for intelligence officers who had previously been his drinking partners.


They worried about when and how to intervene. As fears grew, MI5 spied on the king himself, hiding in the bushes of Green Park near Buckingham Palace to access a telephone junction box and eavesdrop on his personal telephone calls. Even after the abdication, he remained a high priority target as spies reported back on his political views and on the less than salubrious company he kept, assessing him and his wife as ‘fifth columnists’. Reading these surveillance reports on his activities, the Foreign Office complained of his ‘fascist sympathies’. Sent away into a kind of Caribbean exile as governor of the Bahamas, the duke of Windsor was, bizarrely, both the recipient of secret service reports and under close surveillance by the same agencies.


During the Second World War, his brother and successor, King George VI, gradually restored trust between the secret world and the House of Windsor. Although initially tarnished as an enthusiastic appeaser, George eventually acquired inside knowledge of the electronic ‘Wizard War’ that would gradually turn the tide against the Axis. The king knew all the secrets in the land, from radar research to incredibly sensitive decrypted Enigma material produced at Bletchley Park, and from secret black radio stations to the legendary D-Day deception masterminded by MI5.


He became involved in several Special Operations Executive escapades, enjoyed a personal tour of their gadgets and gizmos, and decorated numerous secret agents. The king maintained a keen interest until his death, after which the last copy of an eye-wateringly secret report on deception operations was found locked in his private despatch box by the queen.


In the 1950s, the young Queen Elizabeth II continued her father’s fastidious interest in secret statecraft, from nuclear bunkers to weekly intelligence assessments. She was more than what the eminent constitutional historian Peter Hennessy called a ‘gilded sponge’, and, exercising her constitutional right to encourage, warn and be consulted, would raise an eyebrow knowingly at prime ministers and spymasters alike. On occasions, the Foreign Office would deploy her on subtle diplomacy. On other occasions, she made suggestions of her own, often about the fate of fellow monarchs.


This close relationship lasted through four decades of the Cold War. Then, in the early 1990s, Queen Elizabeth’s private secretary, Sir Robert Fellowes, lunched at MI6’s crumbling headquarters, Century House. This dilapidated tower block situated in a singularly unfashionable borough south of the river seemed to symbolize an uncertain future for the agency at the end of the Cold War. With the icy conflict clearly over, Elizabeth wanted to know if MI6 still had a purpose in this new world. What should he tell her? Gerry Warner, its second in command, replied: ‘Please tell her it is the last penumbra of her empire.’2
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THE SECRET ROYALS argues that the relationship between spies and royals has evolved into something rather unusual. It has moved from the informal and personal to something more formal with a real role for senior royals. In the last century, Stewart Menzies, chief of MI6, himself a stepson of the king’s equerry, traded off rumours that he was an illegitimate son of another king. Now, the head of MI6 nominates its most brilliant officers for private awards from Prince Charles, who has long been fascinated by secret operations. In a dark world where life often hangs by a thread, these awards are the equivalent of a secret Victoria Cross – for acts of gallantry or ingenuity that we will never hear about. Intelligence agencies receive visits from Prince Charles in this role, signified by the flying of the royal ensign. Demonstrating the close relationship, Queen Elizabeth appointed a recent head of MI5, Andrew Parker, as lord chamberlain in 2021, a senior member of her royal household.


Monarchy has directly shaped intelligence. Attempts to assassinate Queen Victoria stimulated the creation and growth of Special Branch. Ever since, intelligence has maintained an important function of keeping the monarch alive. In return, intelligence has shaped monarchy. Discreet protection and early warning allowed kings and queens to remain accessible and visible in dangerous eras of war and terrorism.


Monarchy drove intelligence in other ways too. Access to intelligence enabled kings and queens to intervene in foreign and security policy. Royal marriages created important dynastic intelligence networks across the Continent providing sensitive information back to the palace. The high-level attendance at royal marriages and funerals made them a forerunner of the modern G-20 summit, with opportunities for diplomacy and espionage. It could even be argued that states’ frustration at private royal channels and the dynastic interests they pursued helped spur the creation of more official national intelligence services across Europe.


In return, intelligence shaped monarchy. Tensions over secret information sat at the heart of debates about the role of the constitutional monarch in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. Moreover, the competition between royal intelligence and that of the nation state formed part of a broader clash between dynastic and state interests during a period of revolutionary upheaval. In this sense, the relationship between intelligence and monarchy played a part in shaping the nationalism of the nineteenth century.


Much of this took place against a backdrop of war and insecurity. European wars of the nineteenth century allowed Queen Victoria to flex her royal networks, but those further away in places like Russia and the imperial frontiers led to her demanding greater intelligence coverage. The end of the First World War decimated the royal intelligence system but, by this time, state intelligence was becoming more institutionalized. Across Europe, royals were not only decimated but also disrespected; in the 1919 election, when Lloyd George campaigned on the slogan ‘Hang the Kaiser’ he was openly urging the lynching of the king’s cousin. Even then, King George V maintained his own military intelligence network and found himself surrounded by those working for secret organizations. The Second World War salvaged and formalized the relationship between king and intelligence.


Secret intelligence moved seamlessly from dynastic and family politics to national security politics. Yet the monarch still maintains an important role. How kings and queens access and use intelligence directly affects their ability to exercise their constitutional rights – and ultimately their power. Famously, the Victorian essayist Walter Bagehot suggested that the crown’s ‘mystery is its life. We must not let in daylight upon magic.’ Nowhere is this mystery more pronounced than in the relationship between the monarchy and the intelligence services. It is now possible to let a little daylight into the most secret rooms of the British state.










1
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ELIZABETH I AND MODERN ESPIONAGE


‘Do not tell secrets to those whose faith and silence you have not already tested.’


Queen Elizabeth I, 16001


AROUND 1600, THREE years before her death, a stunning painting of Queen Elizabeth I was commissioned. Known as the Rainbow Portrait, it still hangs in Hatfield House, the historic home of her advisers, the Cecils, on the northern edge of London. Her face is ageless and perfect. At the height of her powers, glorying in her defeat of the Spanish Armada a decade earlier, this image is rich with complex symbols and hidden meanings. Eyes and ears are embroidered all over Elizabeth’s orange dress, warning that she sees and hears everything. The dominant theme is surveillance; it is all about spies and royals.2


The painting is more than a visible celebration of the triumph of Elizabeth’s intelligence networks over many rebellions, plots and conspiracies. Her left arm sports the most cunning of all creatures, a vast jewelled snake. It symbolizes that intelligence is only powerful in the hands of those who understand its complexities, who know how to use it wisely, and who then have the courage to take timely action. In her right hand, she holds a rainbow, a symbol of peace: the ultimate prize of her statecraft. Elizabeth is perhaps saying that without her impressive spy network, without her skill in using intelligence and her capability in covert action, there could be no peace.3


In England, spies and royal statecraft were episodic and opportunistic partners.4 Elizabeth was the first monarch who can claim to have presided over an organized intelligence community, perhaps reaching its apogee during the penultimate decade of the sixteenth century when she battled the Spanish Armada. Here, familiar tradecraft suddenly becomes apparent, including human espionage, codebreaking and interrogation, but also more complex ‘dark arts’ of covert action, double agents and even strategic deception. At first glance, all this seems strikingly modern. Indeed, the historian Stephen Budiansky argues that Elizabeth and her spymasters constitute ‘the birth of modern espionage’.5


Yet in other ways, Elizabeth’s spymasters are peculiar and distant. They relied on private endeavour and personal connections more than formal machinery. Some of her most loyal subjects went into debt, even bankruptcy, subsidizing this strange assemblage of subterranean activities only partly funded by the crown. Intelligence was sometimes run alongside family members from their own private houses – a rather vernacular form of espionage.6


Elizabeth’s inner circle, including William Cecil, Francis Walsingham and the earl of Leicester, were all heavily involved in intelligence work. Espionage fascinated the queen, raising the question of how much she personally knew about these remarkable, and often competing, clandestine structures operating in her name. Was she an active intelligence manager, or else to what extent was she manoeuvred by competing courtiers who were spinning intelligence for their own ends? The Elizabethan spy network was impressive in its geographical and political range, but the hand of Elizabeth herself is often hard to trace.7


The Elizabethan age has been much celebrated and so has its supposedly modern spy system. But over the years we have been fed an anachronism: the idea of a proto-modern collective and constitutional secret service, working largely for national security with Elizabeth commanding her forces against the invading Spanish Armada – a curiously Churchillian vision. One can almost imagine her puffing a cigar and orating ‘we shall fight them on the beaches’.8


Some see the ballooning intelligence bureaucracy as a successful attempt to isolate Elizabeth from policymaking; as a shift to a more constitutional form of government. Others have even suggested that the privy council, by controlling the flow of intelligence, became the practical head of the regime. In one historian’s view, the way her ministers dominated intelligence circulation diminished Elizabeth’s power, pointing the way to something close to a ‘monarchical republic’.9


This is misleading. Elizabeth was in personal control, engaged in the everyday detail of spy craft, even setting out how particular agents should be rewarded – or how specific suspects might be tortured. She did, however, seek plausible deniability when it suited her.


Elizabeth had to engage directly because there was more than one spy system. In fact, there were at least three rival intelligence systems. Cecil, Leicester and Walsingham, while working together to a degree, ran their own private networks with distinctive styles and their own clientele. This reflected not only rivalry for privilege and patronage, but also deep ideological divides over how to secure the monarchy from subversion.10


Far from being a proto-modern intelligence community, these networks competed at home and abroad, spying on each other and even attempting to undermine each other’s work.11 What is curious is how well this byzantine system, with Elizabeth at its head, worked, despite the fact that intelligence was often a way of gaining favour or smearing court rivals. Elizabeth needed all these spies, but she also found them vexing. Walsingham, the most famous spymaster of the era, was intense, puritanical, obsessive, even paranoid. Perhaps the first to encapsulate the idea of worst-case analysis, he urged: ‘There is lesse daynger in fearinge to muche then to little.’12 Elizabeth, as the old saying goes, needed to watch the watchers.
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QUEEN ELIZABETH DID not inherit an intelligence community. Instead, it developed slowly during her first decade on the throne. Succeeding her half-sister in 1558, she enjoyed a decade of relative grace that ended with the arrival of Mary, Queen of Scots, in England. The following year, northern earls unsuccessfully tried to overthrow Elizabeth in favour of her rival, Mary. So began the Elizabethan era of secret intelligence.


The Northern Rebellion was superficially about tensions between Catholics and Protestants at court. Although Elizabeth tried to present a tolerant front, she marginalized important Catholic figures. They, along with several other nobles in the north, revolted in the summer of 1569. By November, several hundred knights assembled in County Durham; open rebellion had broken out. Even Pope Pius V weighed in, declaring Elizabeth a heretic and encouraging defiance.13


On 13 December, Elizabeth’s forces arrived to meet them, and, within a week, the rebel leaders were on the run to Scotland. The rather short-lived revolt signalled the beginning of a long period of spy wars and, with the rebellion over, Elizabeth ramped up her intelligence capabilities. The Northern Rebellion shocked her, for it was not merely a conspiracy of northern barons but, in her mind at least, constituted a popular religious rising.


Elizabeth personally intervened in the reprisals. She asked for more executions of ‘the meaner sort of rebels’ as a deterrent, or, as she put it, for ‘the terror of the others’.14 Her agents executed no fewer than 750 of them. More importantly, Elizabeth, along with her closest advisers, had come to see the threat that Catholicism posed to her rule, and how it combined active external subversion with internal disloyalty. The Northern Rebellion not only transformed how Elizabeth understood her enemies, but also drew her towards new forms of intelligence operations, in particular the use of elaborate covert operations, even provocation and entrapment; much of it focused on her captive Catholic rival, Mary, Queen of Scots.15


[image: Illustration]


IN 1571, THE somewhat fanciful Ridolfi Plot again underlined that Elizabeth was no mere bystander when it came to intelligence operations. Roberto Ridolfi was a gregarious Florentine banker based in London, who had links to the Cecils and even to the queen herself. Seemingly respectable, he travelled Europe on business without suspicion, moving effortlessly between Amsterdam, Rome and Madrid.


During his travels, Ridolfi quietly built up support for an invasion of eastern England which, he hoped, would stimulate a Catholic revolt. This would be followed by Thomas Howard, the duke of Norfolk, marrying Mary, who would then replace Elizabeth as queen.16


No less than her nemesis Elizabeth, Mary also delighted in the pantomime and paraphernalia of spy craft. An English prisoner for almost twenty years, she presided over an elaborate system of couriers, codes and encryption. She was a particularly zealous practitioner of the arcane art of invisible inks, encouraging contacts, ‘under the pretext of sending me some books’, to ‘write in the blanks between the lines’.17 Unfortunately for Mary, most of her correspondence, whether disguised by cyphers or invisible ink, was available to Elizabeth’s spymasters throughout her captivity.


For Walsingham and Cecil, the Ridolfi Plot offered a wonderful chance to act against Norfolk, among the wealthiest men in the country. In April, they detained one of Mary’s servants at Dover. An inspection of his luggage unearthed forbidden texts and enciphered letters. Later, deep in a dungeon inside the Tower of London, he was placed on the rack and blurted out enough to bring in one of Mary’s closest advisers, the bishop of Ross, and the duke of Norfolk.18 The rack was such a fearsome limb-dislocating device that often the mere sight of it caused brave men to buckle. Two of Norfolk’s clerks were rounded up, each caught carrying gold to Mary’s Scottish supporters. Offered a brief opportunity to inspect the rack that awaited him, the first, Robert Higford, quickly told all he knew.


The second clerk, William Barker, refused to confess and was duly tortured. He then revealed that secret documents were hidden in the roof tiles of one of Norfolk’s houses. In this ingenious hiding place, Walsingham found a complete collection of papers connected with Ridolfi’s mission, and nineteen remarkable letters to Norfolk from Mary and the bishop of Ross.19


All was not as it seemed, and even this stash of secret letters did not tell the full story. Ridolfi was effectively one of Elizabeth’s own personal agents who had gone rogue. Like so many figures in the relatively benign first decade of her reign, he had felt safe enough to play all sides. Walsingham had worried about Ridolfi as early as 1569 and had even brought him in for interrogation. Although Ridolfi’s house was turned upside down, Walsingham found nothing incriminating and duly released him. Elizabeth chose her words carefully when he was arrested.20


Because of his excellent mobility and contacts, the queen had in fact used him to secretly explore the chances of compromise with the Continent. As late as October 1570, she seems to have sent him on discreet diplomatic missions to Flanders. More remarkably, in March 1571, Ridolfi held a secret rendezvous with Elizabeth at Greenwich Palace, where he again offered his services. She gave him ‘a very favourable passport’ as her blessing, before despatching him on a secret mission to Rome. This was nothing less than Elizabeth’s backdoor attempt at détente with the papacy. However, Elizabeth had misjudged him and, in urging Walsingham to let him loose, she had simply allowed the slippery Ridolfi to switch sides again.21


Farcical and fantastic though it was, there can be no doubt that the discovery of the Ridolfi Plot had important consequences. Indeed, it rearranged power politics within Elizabeth’s regime: Cecil replaced the executed Norfolk to become the principal person in the Council; meanwhile, Walsingham briefly headed off to Paris, the world centre of espionage, where he refined his skills further.22


Walsingham’s fabled spy system came on quite late, being established only in the mid-1570s, almost two decades after Elizabeth’s accession. He built his network gradually, for his early lack of power and patronage slowed the development of his innovative approach to intelligence. Before rising to be senior principal secretary in 1576, he had lacked the necessary resources and was often little more than a courier between Cecil and his more old-fashioned elite spies of patronage. Walsingham was a relative late-comer, albeit rather more effective and ruthless.23


He became more hawkish than Cecil, advocating wider surveillance together with an aggressive, expansive and technical intelligence-based approach to countering subversion.24


He was more professional, employing people of any class so long as they had the special skills that were now required. He presided over a more scientific kind of spying. Codebreakers, such as Thomas Phelippes, became increasingly important. The supply of intelligence depended on a delicate dance between the talented cryptographers and moles deep in the embassies of France and Spain.


Elizabeth knew all about this. For example, she learnt in 1572 that there were spies in the French embassy who would ‘remain quiet in place’ providing access to secret documents.25 She understood that these deep cover spies had become one of the primary methods of obtaining information during the middle part of her reign.26
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ACROSS THE NORTH Sea, the Dutch Revolt against Spanish rule further stretched Elizabethan intelligence. When Dutch Protestants rose up in the mid-1560s, some asked Elizabeth for support. She expressed sympathy for the rebels and knew that Spanish victory would have challenged her Protestant supremacy and enabled King Philip II of Spain to invade southeast England from Dutch deepwater ports. At the same time, she wished neither to provoke the powerful king nor to financially support an expensive insurgency.27


Her initial response was covert action. Elizabeth used a kind of performative secrecy to demonstrate the long reach of her secret services. In 1570, this was achieved through the abduction on the Continent of Dr John Story, underlining that, even abroad, traitors could not escape her wrath.


As a Catholic member of parliament, Story had strongly criticized Elizabeth and supported the Northern Rebellion. Elizabeth already knew that he was one of the foremost opponents of her ban on Catholic books and papist propaganda. Her spies then realized that he had been working for subversive underground Catholic movements. Tipped off about this discovery, and knowing he was in imminent peril, he escaped to the Spanish Netherlands, confident that King Philip would grant him asylum alongside some of the leaders of the Northern Rebellion.


He was wrong. Queen Elizabeth approved a successful operation to abduct him and bring him back to England for trial. On 1 June 1571, he was executed at Tyburn gallows by being hanged, drawn and quartered. Not only was this an early example of ‘rendition to justice’, but it also showcased Elizabeth’s secret strength to her foreign counterparts.28


Meanwhile, and despite some initial success, Spain’s heavy-handed response to the insurrection only inflamed local violence further. Elizabeth’s advisers emphasized the importance of plausible deniability when supporting the rebels. As early as 1562, her ambassador to France argued ‘the more expedicion and the more secrecie that is used in this, the better it will prove for all respectes. The Queen’s majestie and you of her councel muste be ignorant of this matter.’29


Elizabeth approved a range of covert measures or, as Cecil put it, ‘covert meanes’ to aid the rebels. She turned a blind eye to the recruitment of English soldiers fighting alongside the local Protestants. She secretly sent William of Orange, leading the revolt, a few hundred soldiers alongside a subsidy of around 300,000 florins. The message was clear – if deniable. Zealous Protestants knew they were fighting with Elizabeth ‘as it were but winking at their doings’.30


In 1578, the queen covertly and grudgingly sent a further one million florins – and a mercenary army. Although she loathed spending the money, she knew that covert action was less expensive and less provocative than open warfare. In 1581, with the situation continuing to deteriorate, she tried to work through the French, sending the duke of Anjou, her one-time suitor, secret financial assistance in his attempts to counter the Spanish. At numerous points, perhaps to maintain secrecy, Elizabeth fought to make sure that the Dutch cause was not taken up in the English parliament.31 She had grown so used to covert operations that Walsingham accused her of finding it difficult ‘to enter into the action otherwise than underhand’.32


All the while, Elizabeth attempted to present herself as neutral to Spain. She duplicitously tried to assure King Philip that she stood aloof from the rebels who had ‘solicited [her] to take possession of Holland and Zealand’ and that ‘he never had such a friend as she had been’.33
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ON THE DOMESTIC front, Walsingham enjoyed success in tackling subversion by launching elaborately offensive counter-intelligence operations. The Catholic plots of this era were certainly real, but they were often dreadfully naïve, allowing Walsingham to manipulate their efforts from the outset. In the past, the authorities would have swooped on any plotters immediately, but Walsingham’s new approach to espionage involved playing a longer game to win bigger prizes. In the short term it allowed him to justify a more zealous anti-Catholic approach and in the long term it generated enough evidence to secure his ultimate ambition: Mary’s execution.34


He enjoyed numerous intelligence successes using a combination of undercover agents inside foreign embassies, torture and intercepting communications, to protect Elizabeth and incriminate Mary. Despite this, the queen’s relations with him were never good. By equal turns she found him both indispensable and obnoxious. He was at the height of his powers between 1581 and 1586, rooted in Elizabeth’s regime as a technical bureaucrat. Yet Elizabeth hesitated to give her favour with the same enthusiasm as she had to Cecil or to Leicester. Elizabeth nick-named Leicester her ‘eyes’ because she valued his watchfulness. She never tried to hide her opprobrium or hostility towards Walsingham. In March 1586, she even threw a slipper in his face when she discovered he had been downplaying the threat of the Spanish navy allegedly assembling at Lisbon in order to avoid resources being spared from the campaign in the Low Countries. Elizabeth knew that to allow Walsingham alone to control intelligence was to surrender too much power.35
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JUST LIKE RIDOLFI, William Parry was another Elizabethan agent gone rogue. Over a period of three years he morphed from being a loyal spy for England into a spy willing to assassinate the queen herself.


Studying law but mired in debt, Parry joined Cecil’s band of noble spies watching Catholics in Europe, but mostly with the hope of fleeing his creditors. Moving backwards and forwards between London and Rome, he passed intelligence over to Cecil, but was secretly drawn towards Catholicism. In 1580, when briefly in London, he assaulted one of his creditors and was sentenced to death. Elizabeth stepped in to pardon him, suggesting that he was still a valuable agent.


Two years later, on another sojourn to the Continent, Parry seems to have become a double agent, going over to the Catholic side and seeking approval in France and Italy for an assassination scheme. Returning to England in 1584, he sought to become an elaborate triple agent. He disclosed some of his dealings to the queen, claiming to have acted only to provide cover to Protestant espionage. Astonishingly, Elizabeth not only pardoned him, but also rewarded him with a seat in parliament and a sizeable income.


It was not enough. Still plagued by debts, Parry attempted to manufacture one more plot to be ‘discovered’ in the hope of yet greater rewards. He approached another conspirator, Sir Edmund Nevylle. The two plotters came up with diverse and creative ways to despatch Elizabeth, from riding up to her coach and shooting her at point blank range to killing her during a private audience. They settled upon stabbing her in a private garden in Whitehall Palace.


By February 1585, they were ready. Unfortunately for Parry, Nevylle started to have doubts and informed against his fellow conspirator. Regardless of whether or not Parry had actually intended to kill Elizabeth or whether he had intended to expose Nevylle and bolster his own standing, he quickly found himself in the Tower of London facing execution for high treason. He wrote a full confession to the queen and sent letters to Cecil and Leicester.36 Perhaps in the hope of pardon, he pleaded guilty at his trial, but subsequently declared his innocence, insisting that his confession was a tissue of falsehoods.


The outcome of all this twisting was predictable. Parry was executed on 2 March in Westminster Palace Yard. On the scaffold he again declared his innocence and appealed to the queen for more lenient treatment of her Catholic subjects.


Also implicated was Thomas Morgan, an adviser to Mary. Walsingham swiftly arrested him, getting closer to the elusive prize of Mary herself. While Walsingham moved in on Mary, Cecil focused his attention on her allies. He placed ever greater numbers of spies within the French and Spanish embassies in order to better investigate the correspondence between Mary and these ambassadors.
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THE BABINGTON PLOT of 1586, which led to the execution of Mary, formed one of the darker episodes in Elizabethan intelligence. The intricate scheme to counter it was so highly secret that Walsingham made ‘none of my fellows here privy thereunto’, except for Leicester.37


Anthony Babington was a recusant English gentleman who, like those before him, wanted to replace Elizabeth with Mary. Walsingham uncovered the plot and this time offensively used it to entrap, and finally remove, Mary. He created, and secretly controlled, a channel of communication to and from the unsuspecting Mary. She thought her incriminating letters were secure but Walsingham’s agents, who had infiltrated her circle and helped establish the channel, ensured that they were decoded and made their way back to him.38


The deciphered messages implicating Mary piled up. Walsingham turned his evidence over to Cecil, a more impeccably respectable adviser and better placed to present the case against Mary to the queen. On 8 October 1586, faced with overwhelming evidence, Elizabeth gave her agreement to ‘authorize them to use their discretion respecting the manner of first communicating with the queen of Scots; also in respect to any private interview with her if she should require it’. Mary was arrested and awaited trial for treason.39


Again, Elizabeth was in charge. Although she condemned Leicester and Walsingham as ‘a pair of knaves’, and distanced herself from the execution, her concern was more with the public spectacle than the private reality. She had explored the possibility of Mary’s assassination, or perhaps being met with some unfortunate accident, several times. Walsingham understood the queen’s views. In a letter to one of his contacts, he expressed Elizabeth’s disappointment that ‘you have not in all this time… found out some way to shorten the life of that queen’.40
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MARY’S EXECUTION PRECEDED a wider round of international conflict. Elizabeth retaliated against King Philip by escalating support for the Dutch Revolt against Spain, as well as funding privateers to raid Spanish ships across the Atlantic. Spain had to respond and, by 1587, Walsingham’s spies reported that the Armada was ready to sail.


As over a hundred Spanish ships prepared to depart, Elizabeth’s attention turned to deception. For this she needed another kind of network. Cecil ran an alternative spy system based around English Catholics exiled on the Continent. Its main focus was Edward Stafford’s embassy in Paris which competed with Walsingham’s spy network, searching for Catholic intelligence that would benefit their patrons in policy debates back home.41


Stafford’s mission in Paris infuriated Walsingham. He thought it was all too close to Catholicism and he was deeply suspicious that Stafford was selling secrets to Elizabeth’s enemies. Meanwhile, Elizabeth and Cecil used Stafford, seemingly the voice of détente, as a channel of deception.


In early 1587, he supplied the Spanish with secrets about a forthcoming expedition by Francis Drake. The detail was remarkable, including the number of ships, who was commanding each vessel, their weaponry and most importantly their destinations. Few at court knew such things.


Stafford’s leak, for which he was bribed the paltry sum of 5,200 crowns, constituted treason.42 But Elizabeth and Cecil had deliberately mixed in false information alongside the accurate intelligence, suggesting the fleet’s destination was either Lisbon or Cape St Vincent. The Spanish bought the deception and had no idea that Drake was actually headed for Cadiz to ‘singe the King of Spain’s beard’.43 This was an intelligence triumph, even if the subsequent defeat of the Armada the following year owed more to fortuitous weather and circumstance.
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ELIZABETH PERSONALLY STEERED intelligence. By the mid-1580s, the key meeting seems to have taken place at about 10 o’clock each day. Here, Walsingham briefed the queen in her private chamber, usually verbally, giving her the latest intelligence but also bringing documents for her to sign. He would then return often two or three times during the day, suggesting that Elizabeth was a hands-on and rather demanding intelligence consumer. Walsingham was in increasingly poor health and, as he noted, these meetings ‘maketh me wery of my lief’.44


She knew who her star spies were. Indeed, they were sometimes encouraged to write accounts of their missions for her to read. Typically, Edward Burnham, one of Walsingham’s agents, wrote the story of his operations in France. A racy read, it made both Burnham and Walsingham look good. The queen often granted them a personal pension, normally about £100 a year, in recognition of their special service.


One of the most important spies was Thomas Phelippes, whose codebreaking efforts were central to unravelling the Babington Plot. The queen promised him a position as clerk of the Duchy of Lancaster but to his dismay it never materialized. Walsingham’s secretaries, who were also important to the espionage effort, were rewarded differently, usually with parliamentary seats.45


Elizabeth took a personal – and particularly ghoulish – interest in executions. She pressured Cecil to ensure that the deaths of Babington and his co-conspirators were especially nasty. They had, after all, committed ‘horrible treason’ and she wanted their public deaths to deter others by creating ‘more terror’. Somewhat baffled, Cecil responded that the normal practice of hanging, drawing and quartering was surely ‘as terrible as any other device could be’. But Elizabeth urged that their bodies be torn into little pieces afterwards. She also had them executed on specially constructed gallows at St-Giles-in-the-Fields, the place where the plot had first been concocted. She was determined to make her point.46


Elizabeth also seems to have taken a keen interest in interrogation techniques and corresponded personally with her chief torturers. The most fearsome was Richard Topcliffe, a zealous and persistent hunter of fugitive priests. A forensic reader of Catholic books, he might be regarded as a pioneer of ‘open source’ intelligence practice.47 Rather like Walsingham, he was a free-booting, self-financed operator with his team of ‘instruments’, and, while he worked with both Cecil and Walsingham, he always considered himself the queen’s personal servant and friend.


‘You know who I am?’ Topcliffe rhetorically asked his victims, revelling in his reputation. ‘I am Topcliffe! No doubt you have often heard people talk about me?’ A perverse sadist, he sometimes boasted to his prisoners of being physically intimate with the queen, almost certainly a bizarre fantasy, before following them to the gallows to observe ‘God’s butchery’. Undoubtedly, he knew the queen well and, as late as 1592, was writing to her about special techniques to be used on particular individuals. After he was imprisoned for extorting money from some of his wealthy victims, the queen had him quickly released.48
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ELIZABETH’S INTELLIGENCE SYSTEM looked impressive, but it was deeply precarious. She oversaw a mess of competing networks, private interests and questionable loyalties. Most importantly, intelligence was desperately underfunded.


The queen was notoriously parsimonious, and spying was costly. She left poor Walsingham to bridge the gap personally. To help cover his costs, the queen granted him various sinecures, including the Duchy of Lancaster. The biggest earner was granted prior to the Babington Plot, a royal patent covering the customs of all the important western and northern ports from August 1585, bringing in an annual sum of £11,263. Walsingham kept more than half of this money. Elizabeth grudgingly recognized his professionalism, for while Cecil and Leicester spent their cash on impressive residences, Walsingham dutifully ploughed most of his income back into ever more elaborate systems of espionage.


Elizabeth did provide some money directly for espionage, but it was not remotely enough. She saw intelligence as a short-term panacea rather than the construction of a long-term system, still less a proto-modern intelligence community as some have suggested. In 1585, she allowed only £500, rising to £2,100 in 1586, as a response to the Babington Plot. The panic before the Spanish Armada represented a high-water mark at £2,800. But it was sharply cut soon afterwards.49


On his death in April 1590, Walsingham had large debts. Despite state subventions, his zealous spying activities had outrun his own resources. Moreover, because he had no male heirs, his personal system collapsed. By contrast, Cecil passed his old-style network of gentlemanly spies down to his son. With this change, Cecil’s political pragmatism and softer approach had eventually triumphed over Walsingham’s intense Protestantism.


Given the rapid collapse of Walsingham’s intelligence system, it was perhaps just as well that Elizabeth’s last decade was the quietest. The absence of top spies frustrated the queen, though, and she even turned to Thomas Phelippes, Walsingham’s star codebreaker who had since ended up in debtors’ prison. Both she and Cecil unfairly complained about the fact that, from his cell, he now seemed to take longer over his work.50 Towards the end of her reign, one lawyer lamented that the ghost of Sir Francis Walsingham ‘groaned to see England barren of serviceable intelligence’.51
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POPISH PLOTS AND PUBLIC PARANOIA


‘every man who does not agree with me is a traitor and a scoundrel’


George III1


EVEN BEFORE QUEEN Elizabeth died, an ‘intelligence group’ planned her succession. It consisted of half a dozen influential figures, including Robert Cecil, who corresponded secretly and identified each other only by a number. Childless, Elizabeth was succeeded in 1603 by James, the son of Mary, Queen of Scots. The new king, known as James I in England, kept the younger Cecil on as his first minister.2 Robert Cecil had succeeded his father as Queen Elizabeth I’s lord privy seal and remained in power during the first nine years of King James I’s reign until his death. If there was any continuity with sixteenth-century espionage it was with the Cecils’ network of gentlemanly spies.3


Over the following two and a half centuries, monarchs directly shaped the ebb and flow of secret intelligence. Some, like Elizabeth, enthused about spy craft; others showed little interest at all. James fell into the latter camp. He and his immediate successors surrounded themselves with pampered favourites and flamboyant chancers rather than intelligence professionals.4 To be fair, he had less need for secret intelligence after rapidly signing a peace treaty with Spain. In an instant, many of the Catholic plots which plagued Elizabeth became impotent without Spanish support. Whether interested in intelligence or not, James and many of his successors preferred propaganda to a more professional use of espionage. Some would ‘blow’ hard-earned codebreaking successes to achieve a quick public victory; others would stoke conspiracy over facts.
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THE GUNPOWDER PLOT of 1605 was an important exception: a Catholic plot that was far from impotent. Despite the king’s disinterest in intelligence, Cecil maintained an active network of agents in the form of ‘false priests’ and continued to gather intelligence through embassies, but the days of Walsingham’s ferocious surveillance were long past. King James received no hint of the plot. Although the plotters have been represented as anti-Protestant, they were perhaps even more anti-Scottish.5


Fortunately for the king, the plotters’ ambition proved their downfall. They had hoped to accompany the assassination of James with an insurrection and widened their network accordingly to wealthy families in the Midlands, especially in Northamptonshire, whom they hoped would rise up in the wake of the attack. Uprisings are always difficult to conceal and, sure enough, some of these families worried for the safety of their relatives in parliament who might be literally sitting on top of the explosion. Relatives alerted relatives – and one such warning reached Cecil on 1 November. He took it to the king.


Unimpressed that the plot was so advanced, James took personal control of events. He was clearly capable of action. Five years earlier, he had responded with unprecedented ferocity against a conspiracy to overthrow him. Two aristocratic brothers had lured him to a country house at Perth under the pretence of having found a treasure trove. After dinner, when James went upstairs to bed, one of the brothers pulled out a knife, held James hostage and called for the other to join him. The king stuck his head out of the turret window and shouted, ‘Murder! Treason!’ His courtiers rushed up to find the first brother dead. The second pulled his own knife but was quickly killed. James had been personally duped and clearly lacked any intelligence of the plot. Afterwards, he confiscated their property and insisted that their dead bodies be hanged, drawn and quartered.6


Now, James did not want to make the same mistake again. Adopting a watch and wait strategy, he waited until 4 November to conduct the first search in the hope of catching the conspirators late in the preparations. All he found was a pile of firewood inside one of the cellars underneath parliament.


Still suspicious, James ordered a second search. It famously uncovered thirty-six barrels of gunpowder under the firewood and netted Guy Fawkes. Brave to the last, Fawkes told James to his face that he planned to blow him ‘back to Scotland’ and resisted giving up the names of his fellow conspirators despite being tortured in the Tower.


Nevertheless, Fawkes’s network was rolled up; its leaders hunted, tortured and killed. Addressing parliament afterwards, James claimed personal credit for thwarting the plot and, although he had gone to some lengths to ‘big’ this up, it was not without foundation.7


The Gunpowder Plot was culturally important. By the 1620s, the population had been fed a constant diet of conspiracies for decades, contributing to an abiding climate of paranoia. If it was not Protestant stories about ‘popish plots’ then it was Catholic rumours of evil counsellors. These conspiracy theories reached their apogee in the early Stuart period with the mysterious demise of James.


The king had chosen George Villiers as his key adviser. Goodlooking and swashbuckling, but a poor manager of political affairs, he was certainly no Walsingham.8 When James grew ill and died in 1625, suspicion fell on the man who had administered his final treatment: Villiers. Courtiers whispered that he had poisoned the king to hasten the promotion of his friend and James’s heir, King Charles I.9


Villiers’ speedy rise, combined with the early death of some of his aristocratic rivals, increased suspicion further.10 In a world where forensic science barely existed, the administration of poison was a popular tool of assassination. The conspiracy theory caught the tide of current fashion and gained credibility by complementing the popular narrative about Villiers and Prince Charles. The pair had grown close during James’s reign, with Villiers even joining him in disguise on a secret mission to win the hand of the Spanish princess, thus sealing the king’s policy of détente. They bonded closer when the mission failed, uniting them in a distaste for all things Spanish. The young pair excluded the ageing monarch, who increasingly lost interest in matters of state and became resentful and suspicious towards them.11 Villiers was an opportunist and, conscious of his rapidly deteriorating relationship with James, joined Charles in pushing for war with Spain.12


Whatever the truth, the rumours would not go away. Factions across the political spectrum hated Villiers and seized upon the story. Print had become cheaper and, in the era of the political pamphlet, scandal sheets circulated far and wide. The conspiracy undermined the parliament of 1626 and almost certainly led to the assassination of Villiers two years later at the age of just thirty-five.13


The propaganda, whether true or not, had catastrophic consequences. At the beginning of the first English Civil War, parliamentarians skilfully exploited the belief that Charles I was an accessory to his father’s death. It helped to discredit the king and would surface again during his trial. Indeed, it became almost a founding myth of Cromwell’s republic, debated furiously by each faction down the decades.14


Elizabeth’s complex competing spy empire was long gone, but this sea of rumour and propaganda was to some extent the backwash of her personal approach. She had stoked public paranoia about spies and plots to a remarkable degree and turned public executions into spectacles in the hope of creating more terror. It is not surprising that espionage, conspiracy and rumour, mixing myth and reality freely, featured so prominently in early Stuart England. This murky climate shaped how the king approached intelligence at the onset of civil war.
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THE CIVIL WARS between royalists and parliamentarians – what is now often called the War of the Three Kingdoms – resulted in the defeat and execution of Charles I and the eventual restoration of his son, Charles II, interspersed by the temporary republican rule of Oliver Cromwell. The scale of death and destruction was remarkable, certainly well beyond that of the First World War, casting a long shadow that lasted more than a hundred years, shaping politics well into the middle of the eighteenth century.15


Like his father, Charles I did not embrace secret intelligence. In fact, his closest adviser openly expressed disdain for espionage, rejecting the use of spies and adamantly refusing to intercept the correspondence of Charles’s opponents. Such underhand activity was too ungentlemanly. The king did maintain a secret service budget, but, as was often the way, he spent most of it on propaganda.16 In a world where perceptions often mattered more than truth, Charles desperately lacked a Cecil, still less a Walsingham, to control and direct secret activities.17 Even when underground networks of royalist exiles mobilized on the Continent, weaknesses in the king’s organization and his reliance on inexperienced favourites fatally undermined their espionage capability.18


Parliamentary leaders also lacked a sophisticated intelligence system. Like Charles, they never recreated the complex edifice erected under Elizabeth. They did, entirely fortuitously however, recover one of its key elements: cryptography.


John Wallis, a Cambridge-educated mathematician, was accidentally drawn into the world of cryptography during a dinner party. A guest who happened to be a senior parliamentarian whipped out an intercepted letter written in cypher as a curious talking point. He asked, half in jest, whether Wallis could make anything of it. To his surprise, Wallis responded, ‘Perhaps I might.’ After dinner, he successfully deciphered the code.19


What it contained was sheer dynamite. Confirming the parliamentarians’ worst fears and suspicions about Charles, the letter showed that he had been trying to raise an army of Catholic soldiers from Ireland to invade England, as well as negotiating help from French and Spanish mercenaries – all of them also Catholic. They published the letter widely, presumably blowing the ability to read the cypher in the process and again showing the seventeenth-century preference for propaganda over cryptography. Queen Elizabeth, who understood the value of codebreaking, would never have done this.


As the grip of the English parliamentarians tightened, royalists resorted to disguises and elaborate plots. Many of these failed but notably one did succeed: the fourteen-year-old duke of York, and future King James II, disguised himself as a girl and caught a boat to Europe. The king attempted secret escape plans of his own, but by contrast these failed.20


On 30 January 1649, Charles I was beheaded in London. Endless paranoia about plots, some far-fetched, finally seemed to be confirmed by deciphered letters in Charles’s own hand. Britain was now ruled by a commonwealth, although committed royalists remained loyal to his exiled son, the future Charles II.


The new government appointed a head of foreign and domestic intelligence. Thomas Scot, a lawyer and fervent Protestant, was perhaps the first individual to replicate the professionalism of Walsingham for almost a century. He not only maintained agents inside the circles of Charles II on the Continent, but also employed Wallis as a successful codebreaker.21 By contrast, the defeated royalists had to settle for the clandestine supporters of a defeated monarch. Their predicament was exacerbated by the perennial shortage of money. While collectively they failed to bring down Cromwell, they were brave, persistent and resilient. The republicans could never feel entirely safe.22
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WHEN MONARCHY RETURNED under King Charles II, intelligence in Britain once again plunged into darkness. The new king’s only real security interest was a passionate and persistent search for those involved in the death of his father. Instead of building on, or at least replicating, Cromwell’s burgeoning intelligence system, Charles lured Thomas Scot with the false promise of a royal pardon. Scot soon found himself in the Tower but, instead of being tortured, he was offered a pardon in return for a list of his agents. He was cruelly deceived, for having given them up he then joined them on the scaffold. As the intelligence historian Christopher Andrew remarks, Scot is the only British intelligence chief ever to have been executed for treason.23


Charles II employed not so much an intelligence chief as a bounty hunter: George Downing. Emblematic of those who did well in these turbulent times, he was a chancer who had previously fought for Cromwell. The diarist Samuel Pepys, who characterized Downing’s conduct as odious though useful to the king, called him ‘a perfidious rogue’ and remarked that ‘all the world took notice of him for a most ungrateful villain for his pains’.24


Downing now turned on his former associates, creating spy rings to hunt them down. He successfully engineered the arrest, exfiltration and execution of three prominent regicides in Holland by enticing them out of hiding under the false pretence that they could meet their wives from England, whose company they sorely missed.25


Intelligence barely improved during the latter part of Charles’s reign. Attempts to rebuild intelligence networks were stymied by a tiny budget, poor organization and above all the chaotic decisionmaking of Charles, who continued the Stuart tradition of using favourites as single emissaries without telling others in the circle of decision-making what they were up to. The only saving grace was the codebreaker John Wallis, who, like Downing, had switched sides and now worked for the king.26


Charles was marginally better at secret diplomacy. He took personal control of negotiations with France, using his sister as a top-secret channel of communication with King Louis, allegedly to gain support for his impending public declaration of Catholicism. It was a bizarre – and dangerous – move. The British public would have been furious, and, given the secrecy involved, Louis now had valuable material with which to blackmail Charles whenever he wanted to do so. Some historians think that Charles’s purported conversion was an elaborate ruse to cement an alliance with France against the Dutch; others think it was sincere but short-lived. Charles did successfully sign secret treaties with the French, promising that war against the Dutch would follow his conversion. He even managed to dupe parliament that funds he requested for the navy would be used to counter the French, rather than the Dutch, threat. As people started to get wind of the real target, and real ally, Charles’s supposed commitment to publicly converting unsurprisingly dwindled away.27


Royal networks had allowed for secret diplomacy, and raised the possibility of blackmail, behind the backs of their own governments and advisers. Charles would not be the last monarch to attempt to use private channels to outmanoeuvre ministers.
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NONE OF ELIZABETH’S successors had invested in intelligence, which made the country susceptible to deception, fraud and manipulation. By the late 1670s, after more than a hundred years of real conspiracies, some ludicrous but some more serious, and with endless wars in the Netherlands and Scandinavia, Britain was rife with spy mania. Cheap printing presses and increased literacy made the latter part of the seventeenth century a period of growing pamphlet wars. Some 2,200 pamphlets were published between 1600 and 1715, many of them warning of fantastical and even supernatural conspiracies. This left monarchs vulnerable to one of the most damaging intelligence scams in history.28


The perpetrator was Titus Oates, a failing but bombastic Cambridge theology student who was perpetually shunted from college to college. Thereafter, as an Anglican priest, he again moved rapidly from house to house because of his annoying and unruly behaviour, especially towards women. Expelled by the Anglicans, he travelled to the Continent and entered a Jesuit seminary where he once more fought with his fellow students. Expelled again, he returned to London, claiming a PhD that he did not have, but with enough knowledge to whisper that the Jesuits had tried to use him as a secret agent.29


Already an improbable figure, all Oates needed was a fantastic narrative. He joined with a friend to write a treatise warning of a ‘Popish Plot’ to murder Charles II. Teams of Jesuit assassins were apparently already in London preparing to act. In October 1677, Oates found himself a star witness before the House of Commons.


He offered more bluster than facts, but the politicians and Charles’s intelligence chief, Joseph Williamson, were taken in. Personally, Charles was not worried, but, in the paranoid panic that followed, the authorities rounded up and executed over twenty suspects, consigning many others to prison. Remarkably, the finger of suspicion even turned to Williamson, who found himself briefly in the Tower for being rather too lenient on Irish Catholic army officers. Only in 1685, some seven years later, as Charles was succeeded by his brother James II, did the country realize how badly they had been duped by this flamboyant fraudster. After casting out yet more improbable charges against prominent figures, Oates was now sentenced to life imprisonment.30


Titus Oates is often presented as a preposterous episode but it caused real panic. In retrospect, much of the story now appears humorous, yet it underlined important historical truths. Despite the considerable journey towards a more parliamentary government, the fate of monarchs as individuals really mattered. It fuelled an obsession with plots. England was still ruled by kings and their favourites; its course could be radically changed by the momentary use of poison, an assassin’s dagger or a primitive pistol. In this atmosphere, horrible forms of public execution, which involved prolonged burning and slow dismemberment, were designed to deter plotters. Often, they failed to do so. Oates was a comic figure, but he pointed a finger towards a dangerous future.
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KING JAMES II was not overthrown by assassins but by an invasion. He may have privately hoped of returning England to Catholicism, but a pantomime secrecy attended his dealings with France, and, coming shortly after the exposure of Charles’s secret diplomacy, it caused huge anxiety at home. Publicly, he expressed a commitment to religious toleration, but many believed he was in league with France’s powerful absolutist King Louis XIV and wished to take England in that direction. Historians are still divided about where the heart of James II really lay.31


The person most anxious about this was William of Orange in the Netherlands. A Catholic England would have left him isolated against France, Austria and Spain. William received excellent intelligence from his many supporters in England – but he hardly needed it. When his invasion force landed in Torbay, support for James evaporated overnight. James was allowed, perhaps even encouraged, to flee to France. William became the new king, reigning alongside his wife, James’s daughter Mary, from the spring of 1689.


King William III was instrumental in developing Britain’s ability to intercept and decode correspondence. He inherited the veteran codebreaker John Wallis, working the frail old man hard but paying him several productivity bonuses on top of a regular salary of £100 a year. Unfortunately, the king woefully misused Wallis’s intelligence, again prioritizing propaganda and publicity over long-term intelligence gathering. Having uncovered an attempt by France to draw Poland into war with England, William publicized the decrypted despatches, embarrassing Louis XIV but also making Wallis’s job much more difficult. Wallis continued his service into his early eighties, outliving the king.32


Despite ‘blowing’ Wallis’s triumphs, William was the first monarch since Elizabeth to be truly adept at building an organized intelligence capability and took the first step towards forming a British Black Chamber for codebreaking, mirroring similar organizations on the Continent. Crucially, due to William’s enthusiasm, it became a government profession not an amateur activity. Under the king’s direction, Wallis had worked with two other Black Chambers in Europe, including those of the House of Hanover, distant relatives of William. While they regarded Wallis as superior, what the Continent had to offer was continuity.


Appropriately, two years after King George I, the first Hanoverian, ascended the throne, Britain acquired a proper Black Chamber. This secret government office, building on William’s efforts, constituted the first physical equivalent to Government Communications Headquarters (GCHQ), Britain’s current codebreaking centre. Demonstrating the importance of royal networks, George encouraged co-operation with the Hanoverian Black Chamber at Nienburg. George’s Black Chambers enjoyed great success in intercepting and reading the correspondence of King Charles XII of Sweden. Charles was an exceptionally skilled military leader, a brilliant diplomat and, most worryingly for George, a close ally of the Jacobite rebels determined to restore the House of Stuart to the throne.33


With full access to their communications, George was furious at Swedish subversion. He arrested the Swedish ambassador, an unheard-of breach of protocol (Elizabeth had expelled two Spanish ambassadors for the same offence but never arrested them). Making the same mistake as his predecessors, and again prioritizing propaganda over espionage, he also published the secret letters. More than that, he trumpeted them across Europe in multiple translations. One can only imagine the collective howl of dismay from the codebreakers in Black Chambers on the Continent. Predictably, the Swedes changed their cyphers, making them much harder to break. More importantly, European leaders became keenly aware that their letters might be intercepted and deciphered. It is likely that many became much more careful about what they wrote down.


With royal support, codebreaking had come of age as an organized business. Its chiefs were well rewarded and presided over professional assistants drafted into the trade, often via Oxford University. This was no longer an eccentric activity carried out by a single figure in debtors’ prison. It was a long-standing institution competing with similar chambers in France, Austria, Russia and Prussia.34


The last blow to the Jacobite rebels was dealt not by the burgeoning British Black Chamber, but by a human spy. George II and his prime minister, Robert Walpole, personally gave approval for the recruitment of the most important spy of the mid-eighteenth century, a French diplomat called François de Bussy.35


Talent-spotted by the British ambassador in France, the extravagant Bussy lived well beyond his means and had outrageous debts. He was ripe for recruitment. By now George had a ‘secret service’ and he paid Bussy using its ‘secret fund’. In return, Bussy faithfully supplied top-secret documents including material from Louis XV and his foreign minister. He then transferred to the French embassy in London where he climbed the ladder of promotion; he was thus able to provide all the details of French support for Bonnie Prince Charlie, the pretender to the Stuart throne, together with the names of his supporters. George’s forces rounded them up.36
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GEORGE III SUCCEEDED his father in 1760 and presided over an unprecedented period of peace in Europe. He could not enjoy it, though; neither could he afford to allow his inherited secret service to wither. Across the Atlantic, Britain faced its first colonial insurgency.


The American War of Independence was the culmination of an intellectual and political revolution. This was not surprising since some of the most successful Jacobean regicides had fled there – and become celebrities. Brought to a head by the lack of American representation in parliament and anger at direct taxes levied without consent, armed conflict between British regulars and colonial militiamen broke out in April 1775.


George III is often accused of obstinately trying to keep Britain at war with the revolutionaries in America, despite the opinions of his own ministers. However, more recent historians defend him: no king of that era would willingly surrender such an important colonial territory, especially one in which he was competing with France. Both parliament and the British people increasingly favoured the war, army recruitment ran at high levels, and political opponents were a small but vocal minority.


George, like many kings before him, was a poor intelligence consumer. His government had achieved a remarkable intelligence feat in recruiting a spy working alongside Benjamin Franklin, the American representative in Europe. Edward Bancroft, Franklin’s assistant, was a world-class agent with access to superb intelligence. Rumour has it that, thanks to Bancroft, the Franco-American treaty was in George’s hands just forty-eight hours after it was signed. However, George dismissed his reports as exaggerated or invented. He accused Bancroft of being a ‘double spy’ and wrongly warned ‘no other faith can be placed in his intelligence, but that it suited his private views to make us expect the French Court means war’. Another agent even managed to switch an American diplomatic pouch, delivering its contents to the king and sending an empty decoy to its intended recipients. George remained unimpressed and mistrusting.37


By contrast, his opponent, George Washington, was a far superior intelligence consumer. ‘There is nothing more necessary,’ he once reflected, ‘than good intelligence to frustrate a designing enemy, & nothing that requires greater pains to obtain.’38 The Americans won the War of Independence in 1783, and Washington established a peacetime intelligence system on a huge scale shortly afterwards. Britain, on the other hand, stumbled blindly forward.


The French Revolution followed only a decade after events in America. Revolutions are particularly difficult to predict using intelligence. Therefore, the great revolutions of history, in France, Russia, China and more recently the Arab Spring, have been judged major intelligence failures insofar as few around the world anticipated their ferocity or capacity for long-term political change. They are hard to predict because no one is in charge. Despite the romantic idea of a heroic revolutionary leader as the vanguard of the people, revolutions are often less about plotters and conspirators and more about the implosion of the previous regime and the sentiment of masses. These things are hard to measure at a single point.39


The French Revolution burst onto the scene in 1789. George and his government failed to predict it, and then underestimated its significance. Despite the difficulties, Britain perhaps had less excuse than other countries, having executed its own monarch in the previous century, overturned another in the Glorious Revolution of 1688, and recently fought against the American Revolution.


What George III initially thought about the French Revolution was unrecorded. However, his ministers were delighted, seeing this as an inward collapse of a Great Power with which they had been at war intermittently for centuries. They expected a moderate progression towards a French constitutional monarchy, together with an abatement of their military activity in North America that continued to trouble Britain’s remaining colonies including Canada.


But amid the accelerating turmoil in France, Britain enjoyed little intelligence on the unfolding revolution and George received few reports. Britain hoped for peace and watched at a distance, while France descended into civil war. With British intelligence rudderless and unable or unwilling to scheme, Paris increasingly viewed Austria, the homeland of Marie-Antoinette, not Britain, to be the centre of pro-royalist restoration plots.


The summer of 1792 marked the turning point in France. With Prussian armies advancing on Paris, public hysteria became intense, prompting the growth of a police state that was eagerly searching out enemies both foreign and domestic. Britain had now closed its embassy, reducing its undercover activity to almost nothing. A single agent, Captain George Monro, reported the September massacres in which paranoid mobs descended on the prisons to butcher those they suspected of being royalist spies, but sadly in most cases were merely debtors or common criminals.


On 21 January 1793, Monro reported in horrified tones the bloody execution of Louis XVI and then fled, fearing for his life. It was just as well, for France declared war on Britain a month later and descended into several years of even more intense spyhunting paranoia and further waves of massacres known as the ‘Reign of Terror’.40


Back home, George’s government now feared revolutionary plots by republicans influenced by France. Although overseas intelligence was weak, the prime minister, William Pitt the Younger, expanded Britain’s domestic secret capabilities by creating the Alien Office, which not only looked after immigration, but also security, forming effectively a late eighteenth-century equivalent to MI5.


Its leading light was William Wickham, an Oxford graduate and magistrate who had worked closely with the London police. Although the government accelerated secret service expenditure and passed emergency legislation granting special powers against treason and sedition, genuine plots were few and far between. Intelligence remained poorly led, though, failing to identify a French attack on Bristol in 1797, which was farcical yet still caused panic in London.
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THE GREATEST THREAT to the king was not foreign spies or French-inspired republicans, but the rise of apocalyptic religious revolutionaries propelled by the social tumult of the times. Selfappointed prophets and preachers saw the massive wars in Europe and execution of the French king in millenarian terms, insisting that it had been biblically foretold in the books of Daniel and Revelations. The European crisis, they insisted, pointed to the end of the world and the second coming of Christ.


George, who remained a popular monarch, felt naïvely untroubled by the threat of assassination. Two people suffering from mental illness did try to physically attack him; a third was committed to a lunatic asylum after publicly predicting that he would replace George on the throne. The king treated them all kindly.41


A more dangerous assault occurred in 1800. James Hadfield, an injured war veteran, shot at the king. Before being captured by the French, Hadfield was struck eight times on the head, a portion of his skull having been sliced off by a French sabre. After returning to England, he became involved in a millennialist movement and came to believe that the second coming would be advanced if he himself were killed by the British government. He therefore resolved to assassinate the king – and bring about his own judicial execution.


The king arrived at the Theatre Royal on Drury Lane on the evening of 15 May. As the audience rose to greet him, and the orchestra played the national anthem, Hadfield jumped out from his hiding place in the pit. He stood on a second-row seat, raised his arm, and fired a huge horse pistol at the royal box.


The leaden bullet passed less than eighteen inches above the king’s head. A great suspense hung over the audience until they realized that the king was unhurt. A cry rose up: ‘Seize the Villain! Shut all the doors!’ The musicians secured the assassin and bundled him down below the stage.


George remained calm. He placed his opera glass to his eye and studied the scene without the slightest loss of composure. In fact, he seemed completely unperturbed by the attempt on his life, so much so that he actually slumbered during the interval.42


Remarkably, the incident at Drury Lane was not the only time that day when the king’s life had been in danger. In the late morning, during a military field exercise in Hyde Park, a stray bullet injured a clerk standing near him. As the man who fired the shot could not be detected, authorities remained uncertain whether it had been intentional or not. When inevitably questioned about this earlier incident, Hadfield denied any involvement. Unsurprisingly, George’s privy council thought it more likely to be a republican conspiracy at work.43


Hadfield was tried for high treason. His brother told the court that in the hot weather when the moon was full, he ‘talked about Jesus Christ and proclaimed himself God’. In previous times, he would have been quickly and publicly executed. Instead, he was consigned to a mental hospital. He escaped, attempted to flee to France but was recaptured. His gentle treatment owed much to the fact that he was an injured veteran, a former prisoner of the French, and, at the time of the attack, a Chelsea pensioner.44


Although Hadfield was treated kindly, the assault on the king had important effects. Previously, assailants considered insane were simply discharged back into the community. Inspired by this case, parliament rushed through the Criminal Lunatics Act of 1800, which allowed such persons to be detained indefinitely.45 Hadfield was not the last royal assailant to be detained for a long period under these special measures.
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THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN monarchs and secret intelligence in the two centuries after the death of Queen Elizabeth I is a rather sorry story. Existing at the whims of kings and determined by royal patronage, intelligence was perennially underfunded and neglected. Too often kings put unsuitable favourites or political bounty hunters in charge. For every William III and George I who built up codebreaking capabilities and recognized the need for professionalism, there were more like James I, Charles I and George III who ranged from neglectful to disdainful. Even those who did value intelligence were woeful consumers, blowing valuable sources in a desperate attempt to publicly embarrass or discredit their rivals.


Indeed, propaganda and conspiracy all too often trumped facts. Audiences, from monarchs to rumourmongers, interpreted truths through their own prisms of ideology and religion. They relied on gut reactions as much as evidence. This created a difficult environment in which intelligence – pursuing objective reporting – had to operate at the best of times. Royal indifference often made it harder still.


During the nineteenth century a new monarchical landscape would emerge. Characterized by the creation of modern states and their secret services, together with the trappings of technology, including trains and the telegraph, the royal intelligence network still had a part to play. More than ever, monarchs provided secret back channels for diplomacy, while uneven and contested progress towards constitutional government seemed to make royals a yet more attractive target for the lone assassin or bomb-throwing anarchist. At the centre of this turbulent new world would be another female monarch who understood intelligence just as well as her Elizabethan predecessor. This was the inheritance of a young Queen Victoria.










Part I
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THE RISE AND FALL OF ROYAL INTELLIGENCE
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QUEEN VICTORIA: ASSASSINS AND REVOLUTIONARIES


‘For a man to strike any women is most brutal, and I… think this far worse than any attempt to shoot, which, wicked as it is, is at least more comprehensible and more courageous.’


Queen Victoria, 18541


ON MATTERS OF espionage, Queen Victoria was decidedly un-Victorian. Spying in nineteenth-century Britain was a dirty word. Victoria’s subjects thought it ungentlemanly; the kind of unscrupulous activity undertaken by despots on the Continent. Yet espionage was more than un-British; it was, so the argument went, unnecessary and counterproductive. The British population, prosperous and content, had no reason to rebel, while the foreign policy of splendid isolationism reduced the risk of war – and with it the need for secret intelligence altogether. Espionage was problematic in so far as spies, saboteurs and undercover surveillance generated mistrust; and mistrust led to rebellion.2


In the wake of Wellington’s resounding victory in the Napoleonic Wars, Britain had few international worries for the first time in centuries. One historian has described the mid-Victorian period as a vast ‘chasm of spylessness’.3 The precursor to MI5 and MI6 was not created until 1909, late in the reign of Victoria’s successor, Edward VII. During Victoria’s reign domestic spying was limited; and the British state lacked a formal network of human spies overseas.


Personally, the queen was far less squeamish. But then Victoria was rather continental herself; she sat at the heart of a dense network of royal relatives spanning Europe. Her uncle was king of the Belgians, whose wife was the daughter of the French king. Victoria’s own daughter married the crown prince of Prussia. By the end of her long reign, Victoria had royal relatives in Bulgaria, Denmark, Germany, Greece, the Netherlands, Romania, Russia and Spain.4 They formed a transnational intelligence agency, and, in a world where the private and public seamlessly blurred, the queen often knew more about foreign powers than her own ministers did. She claimed to be unimpressed when her foreign office engaged in ‘diplomatic intrigue, spying, &c’, but in truth, she had her own sources and did not appreciate ministerial meddling.5


Although more absorbed in foreign and dynastic affairs, Victoria did develop a personal interest in domestic intelligence. The reason was simple: her ministers might have had the luxury of seeing virtue in Britain’s lack of intelligence service, but they were not subjected to continuous threats of assassination, neither did they have to watch revolutionaries murder their relatives across the Continent. For any monarch, the stakes were dangerously high. The bearded bomb-throwing anarchist became a dominant theme as the century wore on, and their primary target was the crowned heads of Europe.


Intelligence, for Victoria, was about survival – both physically and dynastically. It was also decidedly ad hoc, and sometimes highly personal. She referred to letters from her daughter, Vicky, about Prussian intentions as ‘intelligence’, but they slipped seamlessly between political insight and family gossip. Victoria interpreted intelligence broadly: it ranged from secret reports sent from the Russian border to, rather bizarrely, news that her opera coach was ill and had to reschedule a lesson. To Victoria, all of this was ‘intelligence’. Like more recent connoisseurs of ‘open source’, she knew that intelligence was simply useful and actionable information. It did not necessarily have to come from spies.


Victoria was only eighteen years old when she became queen in 1837. She had led a sheltered childhood, during which a rigid discipline had been instilled. The young queen, diminutive and inexperienced, was not entirely innocent of politics. Her uncle Leopold, king of the Belgians, tutored her in foreign affairs as a teenager and, after she became queen, emphasized the virtues of discretion in statecraft.6 He also offered an early lesson in deception operations and how to take advantage of nascent counter-intelligence tradecraft. It was fairly standard practice, he counselled, for states to intercept, read and reseal letters. This could be cunningly exploited by writing the letters in such a way as to send a deliberate message – accurate or otherwise – to the intercepting state.7


The young queen revelled in her new role, enjoying the stark contrast to her highly constrained childhood. She had a great deal to learn and acquired a famously intimate and trusting relationship with her first prime minister, Lord Melbourne.


Victoria was stubborn, inquisitive and highly intelligent, with a keen eye for detail. She liked to know what was going on at home, overseas, and especially across her vast and growing empire. As she grew into the role, Victoria rarely hesitated to advise – or berate – her ministers for failing to keep her updated or for ignoring her warnings. Throughout her reign, she remained closely involved in the affairs of successive governments. She read papers, including Foreign Office despatches and Cabinet discussions, quickly and efficiently – and sharply rebuked ministers if ever they dared to withhold something.


Secret information, arriving through convoluted routes to land on the government’s desk, often ended up on hers too. Early in her reign, for example, she found herself sitting alongside Melbourne in Buckingham Palace discussing the veracity of a single spy report. It concerned Russian military intentions and had come from a wellplaced human source via the duke of Wellington, who continued to advise the queen as late as 1851. In the end, they thought its contents improbable, but the image of a queen and her prime minister poring over human intelligence together is a striking one.8 She was quickly learning her craft and would go on to admonish ministers if they interpreted intelligence differently from her. More generally speaking, her red boxes rarely included formalized ‘secret intelligence’ – in the modern sense – because such agencies did not yet exist.


Victoria married Prince Albert of Saxe-Coburg and Gotha in 1840. Albert was handsome, hard-working and, like Victoria, disciplined. Above all he was hard-working, quickly learning about English history, law and the constitution. Although theirs was an arranged marriage, the affection between the young couple was clear. Despite this, the queen initially froze her new husband out of statecraft, secret or otherwise; much to Albert’s frustration. ‘I am only the husband,’ he once complained to a friend, ‘and not the master of the house!’


Things soon changed when Victoria became pregnant a few months later. The relentless red boxes continued to arrive at the palace and the exhausted queen reluctantly resorted to reading their contents to her eager husband. His influence grew, albeit informally, thereafter. At Albert’s request, Lord Melbourne advised the queen to take political guidance from her husband and, upon leaving office, told her that he had ‘formed the highest opinion of His Royal Highness’s judgement, temper and discretion’. Victoria, he counselled, ‘cannot do better than have recourse to it’. Melbourne’s successor, Robert Peel, accordingly sent Albert nightly reports of parliamentary debates and Cabinet discussions. This was quite a turnaround: a year earlier, the queen had not allowed him a key to the red boxes, yet by 1844 he had become an unofficial private secretary. Eventually he gained his own key to those boxes carrying the most secret and sensitive affairs of state.9


For all their access to state secrets, Victoria and Albert’s best intelligence did not come from these boxes. Instead, their vast web of relations provided unrivalled sources of inside information – some of it highly sensitive – about foreign affairs. According to one senior official in Number 10, Queen Victoria selected the most intelligent member of each European royal family, and ‘on any question, domestic or foreign, which arose, she obtained an opinion’.10 Royal communication travelled securely through private messenger or diplomatic bags, and the queen felt confident in her sources: shared blood was more reliable than some perfidious secret agent working for money.11 As a result, Victoria and Albert knew a great deal more about German, and broader continental, affairs than the Foreign Office did. And Albert convinced the queen that foreign policy peculiarly came within the sovereign’s province.12 Knowledge was power, however, and the dynastic intelligence system soon came into conflict with that of the modern nation state at home and abroad.
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IF INTELLIGENCE WAS about survival then Victoria’s personal safety should have been the highest priority. Even in the first decade of her reign, plenty of malcontents, from Irish terrorists to loners with a grudge, wanted the young queen dead. Yet domestic intelligence, necessary to unearth plots and conspiracies, barely existed. Formed in 1829, the Metropolitan Police was a fairly new organization at the start of Victoria’s reign. It did not acquire a small detective department until 1842. By then, the queen had survived three separate assassination attempts.


The first unfolded dramatically on 10 June 1840. In the early evening, Victoria and Albert left the garden gate of Buckingham Palace in a carriage. All of a sudden, as they headed towards Constitution Hill, Victoria ‘was deafened by the loud report of a pistol’. ‘Our carriage,’ she recalled that night, ‘involuntarily stopped.’13


On the path beside them, she and Albert saw ‘a little man’, his arms ‘folded over his breast, a pistol in each hand’. Less than thirty seconds later, the assailant aimed again. The queen ducked and ‘another shot’, as she described it, ‘equally loud instantly followed’.14 He adopted the classic highwayman’s pose, something he had been perfecting, steadying his left hand on his right forearm, and zoning in on his target.15


‘My God!’ Albert exclaimed as the gun fired. Catching his composure, he turned to his young wife. ‘Don’t be alarmed.’ She assured him she was ‘not the least frightened’, and, as police eventually seized the assailant, Albert ordered the driver to carry on as if nothing had happened. In the background, onlookers chanted: ‘Kill him! Kill him!’16 In the confusion the gathering crowd first turned on brave bystanders who had wrestled the pistols from a certain Edward Oxford. Anxious to claim responsibility he shouted: ‘It was I who fired: it was me.’ The crowd then turned on Oxford. But it was unnecessary as he had no wish to run away – instead he stood with a beaming smile – taking full credit. Police constables from A Division, who looked after royal protection, now arriving at the scene, had difficulty preventing the crowd from attacking him.17


The queen was morbidly fascinated by the incident. Over the following days, she examined a nearby wall looking for bullet marks, spoke at length with the prime minister about the specific bullet used and the height and direction it travelled, and inspected the pistols that, in her words, ‘might have finished me off & perhaps Albert too’.18 She fiercely disputed the home secretary’s assessment that the pistols were not in fact loaded.19


Victoria asked to be kept updated about the unfolding investigation. Melbourne soon told her that police had arrested Oxford for high treason, and intriguingly added that letters about a secret society named ‘Young England’, with 400 members, had been unearthed at his house. Each member was supposedly required to have a hidden ‘brace of pistols, a sword, a rifle and a dagger’. It seemed like an elaborate conspiracy to overthrow the monarchy and the government. The French ambassador observed that these appeared to be a poor emulation of the ‘great secret societies’ that had existed on the Continent.20


Oxford was only eighteen, but looked several years younger. Under interrogation, he alleged that the king of Hanover, who would have assumed the throne had Victoria died, and Lord Palmerston, the foreign secretary, were members of ‘Young England’. These wild allegations were quickly dismissed, and a jury found Oxford guilty but insane.


It was all a figment of his imagination.21 The real driving force for Oxford had been an addiction to ‘penny dreadful novels’. He was fascinated by the highwayman Jack Sheppard, and his favourite reading included a book called The Bravo of Venice, which featured a figure who rises to prominence by becoming the ‘King of the Assassins’.22 He followed James Hadfield, George III’s millenarian would-be assassin, into long-term institutional confinement. Was Oxford really mad rather than malevolent? The queen was sceptical and talked with Melbourne ‘of the jury being bad’.23


The press speculated wildly about Oxford’s connections to either the Chartists, a working-class male suffrage movement for political reform, who had recently triggered riots in Birmingham, or else ultra-right underground movements. In fact, Oxford was a lone operator. The real political significance was to trigger a vast and spontaneous outburst of popular support for the queen and her new husband. For days, huge crowds surrounded the palace, thrilled to see her going about her duties with no obvious additional protection.


Undoubtedly, Oxford was deranged. Witnesses testified to a long history of instability, characterized by maniacal fits of laughing and crying, since early childhood. When questioned by the home secretary, he again erupted in hysterical laughter, which discomforted everyone present.24


Fascinatingly, once confined, Oxford met up with another would-be royal assassin. It was something of an elite club. Oxford would eventually join Hadfield at Bethlem Hospital. Hadfield was momentarily filled with hope when Victoria had been crowned queen, expecting that his long service to the nation as a soldier in Wellington’s army would count for something. He petitioned her to release him and make him a Chelsea pensioner. But Victoria was now alert to the danger of lunatics and chose to keep him contained.25


It was undoubtedly convenient for the authorities to find Oxford insane. Lacking intelligence capacity, the police would have struggled to uncover and penetrate such a secret society had one existed. Besides, the state’s limited surveillance capabilities were focused on the growing Chartist movement. Lone wolf attacks against the monarch were a more difficult proposition altogether. The queen was protected on state occasions by plain clothes officers, plucked from the uniformed police to monitor suspicious characters in the crowds.26 These arrangements were clearly insufficient. Nor were they improved – and they needed to be.


On 29 May 1842, Albert heard ‘a trigger snap’ as he and Victoria returned to Buckingham Palace. A short swarthy man had stepped out from the crowd and aimed to fire. The bumbling police failed even to notice the incident. No one around him appeared to have noticed at all. Albert kept the matter highly secret, telling only the prime minister and those immediately concerned with the queen’s safety.27 Peel hurried to the palace and the two walked in the gardens, discussing what to do next.


The following day, Albert and Victoria took matters into their own hands and launched a daring operation to flush out the assailant.28 They repeated the same route, albeit this time travelling a little more quickly and ensuring that undercover police lurked at every corner.29 Victoria decided that she could expose the lives of her gentlemen, but not her ladies, so kept the ladies in waiting out of the line of fire.30 Constantly looking over her shoulder, she unsurprisingly felt ‘agitated and excited’.31 Albert ‘looked behind every tree’, she later recalled, ‘and I cast my eyes round in search of the rascal’s face’.


Constable William Trounce of A Division had been observing a suspicious character in the same area for about thirty minutes. But as the royals approached, patriotic feelings overcame his limited undercover training. Instead of watching his suspect, he bizarrely stood smartly to attention and saluted. Meanwhile, his suspect, the same man as before, stepped forward and shot his pistol at a range of seven yards.32 This time, the police caught him. His name was John Francis, a twenty-two-year-old Londoner. He was initially detained in the same cell Oxford had occupied two years before.33


Despite the mishaps, Victoria was remarkably impressed with the whole operation and the secrecy with which she had carried it out.34 Again she pressed ministers for details.35 Francis was tried for high treason and sentenced to death, but this was later commuted to transportation on the grounds that his pistol was not loaded.36 Victoria and Albert naturally both argued for better security, and also lobbied for a change in the law to better protect the monarchy.37


Two days after the Francis verdict, the home secretary told her of yet another assassination attempt.38 Enough was enough. The prime minister, Robert Peel, rushed to Albert to discuss protective measures. He and the queen promoted a legislative solution, believing that such attempts would continue so long as the law allowed assailants only to be charged with high treason, a cumbersome procedure.39 Under intense pressure from the palace, parliament passed a Treason Act just nine days afterwards, which introduced a new crime of intending to wound or alarm the sovereign, punishable by transportation, imprisonment or whipping.40


More importantly, less than a month later, the police established a small eight-man ‘Detective Department’, albeit this was as much to appease public fears amid a recent murder spree as to protect the monarch. It had already existed in embryo within A Division, widely considered the Metropolitan Police’s elite district, and they had already been called away to conduct what were essentially Special Branch tasks against the Chartists in Birmingham two years before. Now they had an excuse to move forward more brazenly. Tasked by the Home Office, it cultivated ad hoc informants to gather intelligence on subversive individuals and groups. Surveillance focused predominantly on the Chartists and on foreign nationals who had recently arrived in Britain. All the while, detectives consciously tried to avoid accusations of French-style authoritarian political policing with its undercover agents.41


In the early nineteenth century, Peel’s police force had been regarded with suspicion as a civilian army of ‘bludgeon men’. But the newly formed Detective Department had some unlikely allies. Charles Dickens was fascinated by this new development and wrote several press pieces praising them. Remarkably, he incorporated them into his latest novel, Bleak House. The first fictional detective, ‘Mr Bucket’, was closely modelled on a real detective-inspector, Charles Field. Some police officers worked closely with journalists to create what have been called ‘pseudo-autobiographies of professional men’. As the century wore on, novelists, drawing on the public fascination with the science of forensics, conjured up the image of a new intelligence-driven policeman. Not all of them were men. One of the first fictional detectives was Ruth Trail of ‘Secret Intelligence’ whose office door boasted a brass plaque that read ‘Secret Agent’.42


With this slowly changing public mood, the Victorian era saw the beginnings of modern state surveillance. The introduction of the penny black stamp made the postal service affordable for the average person, dramatically increasing the opportunities for state interception. Mushrooming bureaucracies, from the growth of the census to the blossoming library system, also offered a sort of indirect surveillance that earlier societies had not experienced. Public health bureaucracies began to keep comprehensive files on ordinary citizens for the first time, crime being closely associated with disease in the popular imagination.43 Such activity might have helped the police keep order and prevent conspiracies, but not everyone was impressed. Royal fears that ordinary members of the public might obtain unseemly glimpses into the private lives of the elite formed an early counterweight against these developments.44 Moreover, undercover police and indirect surveillance simply failed to prevent further assassination attempts.


In January 1843, Albert received ‘intelligence’, as Victoria put it, that one of Peel’s personal secretaries had been shot. The bullet, she recorded in graphic detail, ‘had passed through the ribs but had been extracted, — no vital part had been touched, & it was hoped he would do well’. She and Albert looked awkwardly across the dinner table, where, by coincidence, the victim’s brother sat blissfully unaware of what had happened. Albert gently broke the news to him after dinner.45 The next day, Peel revealed a further secret to the queen: the assassin had intended to kill Peel himself, and, in a case of mistaken identity, thought he had succeeded. Victoria was horrified.46 Peel promised to send her all the latest intelligence, no matter how seemingly insignificant.47


The victim, Edward Drummond, died from his wounds five days later. Sadly, Drummond was related to Spencer Perceval, the only British prime minister to be assassinated, and they were eventually buried in the same family tomb in Charlton in Kent.48 The queen’s temperature rose further when the attacker, Daniel McNaughton, was acquitted on the grounds of insanity. ‘What security is there left now!’ she thundered. ‘Something ought to be done,’ Victoria demanded of the prime minister, ‘to alter the law, which is indeed very defective.’49


The very next day, debate opened in parliament.50 She continued to keep up the pressure on the prime minister, and, three months later, the House of Lords announced new rules to change how jurors would be instructed regarding insanity. From then on, every man was to be presumed sane, leaving it for the defence to prove that, when committing the act, he, through ‘disease of the mind’, either did not know what he was doing or did not know that it was wrong.


In the background, dramatic events abroad helped drive the change. Passions were building towards another round of momentous revolutions on the Continent in 1848. In France, politics, rather than mentally disturbed assassins, fuelled rising violence against royalty. Many of the assailants subscribed to an underlying anarchist philosophy, believing that by killing the king they would unhinge the entire establishment and trigger a major change in the established social order. The most inventive was Giuseppe Fieschi, who had created a primitive form of machine gun for his formidable attack in 1835. As King Louis Philippe rode through Paris to inspect his national guard, Fieschi unleashed no fewer than twenty-five loaded guns bound together on a wooden frame. Eighteen people around the king were exterminated, while half of Freschi’s own face was blown off. Yet the king survived and, emulating Victoria’s famous courage under fire, he rode on to review his troops as if nothing had happened.51


Victoria had successfully changed the law on mental health. Despite developments on the Continent, her demands for increased security did not have the same impact. The prime minister assured her that ‘every precaution possible’ would be taken to keep her and Albert safe on state occasions, but naïvely comforted her by saying that he had ‘walked home every night from the House of Commons, and, notwithstanding frequent menaces and intimations of danger, he has not met with any obstructions’.52 Prince Albert personally designed an armoured parasol – made out of chain mail – to protect the queen, but it was rather heavy and she never used it.53


Victoria faced at least a further five assassination attempts over her reign. Another took place in May 1849, when William Hamilton, a refugee from the Irish famine, shot at her with an unloaded and home-made gun. Once again this took place at Constitution Hill, which was rapidly becoming assassination alley for the royal family. The queen’s escorts spotted a man with a gun and called for the coach to stop, providing him with a perfect target. There was a flash and a loud roar. A crowd fell on him rapidly, shouting, ‘Tear him to pieces!’ and ‘Kill him at once!’, but detectives from A Division quickly hauled him away for interrogation.54 Under the new act, he was tried, with royal approval, of misdemeanour, rather than high treason, and sentenced to seven years’ transportation.55


A year later, another man stepped from a crowd and struck Victoria with his walking stick, knocking her unconscious momentarily. This was another monumental lapse of royal security, and, as the queen staggered to her feet nursing a swollen eye, the public leapt on the assailant. This attack angered Victoria more than all the others. She thought it ‘by far the most disgraceful & cowardly thing that has ever been done’. Hitting a woman with a stick was judged ‘far worse than an attempt to shoot, which, wicked as it is, is at least more comprehensible & more courageous’.56 He faced the same punishment as the Irishman and was transported to Australia.57
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IN SPRING 1844, amid assassination attempts and the tentative growth of undercover policing and state surveillance, Britain’s one long-standing and most professional intelligence success story, one that had been quietly nurtured since the Civil War, now faced a major scandal.


The protagonist was Giuseppe Mazzini: an Italian nationalist who had taken refuge in London after being chased across Europe following a string of failed insurrections and sentenced to death in absentia. In 1831, he had founded ‘Young Italy’, an underground movement designed to unite his country that, two years later, had 60,000 members. This was the movement that the fantasist and would-be assassin Edward Oxford had tried to emulate. After a number of failed insurrections, he was exiled to London, where he ran his movement from the British Museum. Sitting among scholars and novelists, he wrote to agents across Europe and North America agitating for a unified Italian republic.


Early in 1844, a friend called at his house in a state of distress. Two of his associates, Emilio Bandiera and his brother Attilio, had been seized shortly after arriving in Naples and executed. How had the Neapolitan police managed to find them so quickly? This increased Mazzini’s existing suspicions that someone was tampering with his mail. After yet another failed uprising, this time in southern Italy, Mazzini accused the British government of intercepting his mail and tipping off the local authorities.58 Specifically, Mazzini accused the government of ‘post-office espionage’. Setting out to prove it, he carefully placed poppy seeds, strands of hair and grains of sand into envelopes, sealing them with wax, and posting them to himself. Sure enough, they arrived sealed, but without their tell-tale contents.


As word spread, members of parliament now feared their own letters were being opened. The scandal caused outrage in parliament and instigated a broader debate about spying. What difference, one MP asked furiously, was there between ‘a government breaking the seal of his letter in the Post Office, and the government employing a spy to poke his ear to the keyhole?’ These underhand practices were ‘singularly abhorrent to the genius of the English people’.59


Parliamentary anger caught the national mood. Britain prided itself on being the most open of democratic powers, and the philosopher Jeremy Bentham had recently popularized the notion that secrecy was an ‘instrument of conspiracy’ deployed by tyrants.60 Here, in the absence of poppy seeds, surveillance and security collided with newfound ideals of liberty and privacy, driven by cheap, secure correspondence and a feeling that the home was a private space in which the state had no business.61


Soon, James Graham, the home secretary, was nicknamed ‘Fouché’ by the press, after Joseph Fouché, Napoleon’s notorious minister of police famous for his system of political spies. Meanwhile, Mazzini became an overnight celebrity and household name. Yet Queen Victoria was unmoved. Sympathizing with her royal relatives across Europe who faced violent republican revolutionaries, she maintained her more pragmatic attitude to security. She was also unsurprised by the exposés, having become an experienced reader of intercepted letters herself.


Before 1844, Victoria had enjoyed access to an impressive range of intercepts. She found some ‘most impertinent’, others ‘curious’, while some simply made her laugh.62 They offered rich insight into the French court,63 German politics,64 Russian-German relations,65 and the implications of the Spanish civil war for its monarchy.66 Victoria found them fascinating, recording how she would discuss ‘people knowing things’ with her prime minister.67 Some were particularly sensitive: one intercept was a letter written by her own uncle, King Leopold, criticizing her government;68 another batch contained some ‘violent letters’ by that ‘old foolish Sir Robert Gardiner’, a former general whom she had inherited as an assistant in her own court.69 In some cases, Victoria not only saw the raw intercepts but acted as an intelligence analyst. She used her encyclopaedic knowledge of the intricate power structures in Europe to help her government interpret the royal material.


Albert shared his wife’s pragmatism. When some of his own correspondence later fell into French hands, he reacted simply by saying that ‘if people have spies to open and read letters, they must expect to see what they may not like’.70


Therefore, when the Mazzini affair erupted, Victoria just could not understand the hysteria. She believed that the home secretary ‘must have, in moments of difficulty’, the ability to intercept letters. She was disappointed that the government lost the subsequent debate and expressed surprise that Melbourne, with whom she was still in close touch despite his having left office, ‘condemned the practice’.71 And she did have some right to be surprised at his purported squeamishness: Melbourne had once forwarded reams of foreign intercepts to the palace. Admittedly, this time with Mazzini, the state had targeted British communications, an altogether more controversial target.


Victoria’s views were at odds with those of her subjects. Her dynastic sympathies, fear of revolutionaries and loathing of republicanism help explain this. Surveillance of Mazzini was instigated at the request of Austria, which, at the time, owned large parts of Italy and was roundly repressive. This raised the thorny issue of national sovereignty and spying at the request of a foreign state. The philosopher Thomas Carlyle angrily wrote that while Englishmen had no interest in the affairs of the Austrian emperor, ‘it is a question vital to us that sealed letters in an English post-office be, as we all fancied they were, respected as things sacred’. An editorial in The Times agreed that such activity ‘cannot be English, any more than masks, poisons, sword-sticks, secret signs and associations, and other such dark inventions’.72


The queen had a clear interest in maintaining those monarchies that radicals like Mazzini were trying to overthrow. Surveillance mattered more to the crown than to parliament. But parliament won. After a lengthy inquiry, the government was forced to admit that a secret department of the Post Office had existed for two centuries. In 1655, after the English Civil War, Oliver Cromwell had appointed a postmaster general to intercept letters of monarchists suspected of plotting against his regime. With a warrant, this Secret Office and Deciphering Branch had the power to intercept mail.


Ministers tried to fudge the outcome. They kept the law the same, hoping to leave it a ‘mystery whether or not this power is exercised’. This, the inquiry hoped, would ‘deter the evil-minded from applying the Post to improper use’. In practice, the Peel government closed down the Deciphering Branch and the Secret Office of the Post Office altogether. Britain seemingly lost the ability to intercept and decipher letters.73 The operatives, which still included relatives of Edward Willes, who had created the institution more than a century before, were quietly pensioned off with money from a secret fund.74 It was, according to the historian Christopher Andrew, a ‘turning point in intelligence history’.75


The following year, the queen discussed the issue with Robert Peel again. She maintained that the power to open letters was necessary, but agreed it should not be abused. The issue of secretly resealing them was more controversial, but again the queen was in favour. She argued that if this were ‘not done and letters merely stopped, without being resealed before being forwarded, then hardly any information could be obtained’. Intriguingly, the queen added that the Post Office was not the best institution to conduct such secret activity anyway. Instead, she thought that the Foreign Office did it ‘in a far more secret manner’; a practice she was relieved had not fallen under the recent investigation and perhaps pointing to a yet more secret office.76


The government did continue to watch Mazzini closely, although he wrote in code after the 1844 scandal. A few years later, the prime minister told Victoria that the authorities still hoped to ‘shut’ him ‘up for a time’, but despite keeping him under surveillance they were struggling to catch him doing anything actually illegal.77 A decade after the scandal, the French king impressed Victoria with his detailed knowledge of secret societies and told her that he too had failed to ‘get at’ Mazzini, but vented ‘if I catch him, I will embalm him’. Victoria listened sympathetically, knowing full well that her own ministers had been soft on the revolutionary a decade earlier.78 A European royal club was closing in on revolutionaries and they had found their mark.


Despite the closure of the Deciphering Branch, British authorities, probably through the Foreign Office, still intercepted Mazzini’s mail twenty years after the scandal. For thirty years, he skipped across the Continent, creating insurrections and then returning to the safety of the British Museum when things got too hot. Thus, the queen still had periodic access to what he penned. The aim, as ever, was to gather intelligence on his revolutionary network. Victoria was relieved, for example, when intercepts showed that Giuseppe Garibaldi, the nationalist republican and contributor to Italian unification, was leaving London. She noted that they clearly revealed him to be a ‘tool’ of Mazzini.79
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THE MAZZINI AFFAIR reflected the thorny broader issue of British attitudes towards European political exiles and put the queen in a difficult position. Amid great political upheaval on the Continent, dissidents fled fierce crackdowns on rebellion and insurrection. Taking advantage of Britain’s liberal asylum policy, which starkly contrasted with the authoritarianism across the Channel, many found a home in London.


In nineteenth-century Britain, the position regarding refugees and exiles was remarkably liberal. Everyone was welcome, ranging from overturned monarchs and routed royalists to the leaders of failed revolutionary bands and escaped political prisoners. Between 1823 and 1900, not a single refugee was expelled. While refugees in Europe faced draconian treatment, foreigners who fled to Britain could reside in freedom. An act permitting deportation was introduced in 1848, but was scrapped five years later, never having been used. Yet behind the scenes, Victoria was pursuing a secret battle to put an end to this political openness.80


This was because these refugees, from Mazzini to Karl Marx, turned nineteenth-century Britain into a petri dish of radical political ideas. Often, they were at odds with each other. Mazzini declared Marx to be an authoritarian who was filled with the hatred rather than the love of mankind, while Marx responded that the veteran Italian nationalist was ‘an everlasting old ass’.81 Nevertheless, here dissident groups could organize, plot attacks and print material to be smuggled back to the Continent. Unsurprisingly, foreign governments continuously pressured Britain to deport these subversives for trial, but Victoria’s government possessed neither the means nor the inclination to place so many dissidents under surveillance.82 Victoria, who empathized with the European monarchs and abhorred republicanism, found herself caught between dynasty and country.


In 1844, the year of the Mazzini affair, the home secretary, James Graham, met police chiefs to discuss how to keep track of foreign nationals more effectively. Around the same time, detectives at Scotland Yard did place some refugees under surveillance.83 The leading detective in this controversial field was Jonathan Sanders, who, fluent in French, could easily pass himself off as a refugee. Throughout the 1850s, he reported the mood among neighbourhoods that had become hotbeds of radicalism and monitored meetings at political clubs popular with foreign dissidents. More often than not his investigations concluded that these groups posed little real threat beyond drunken cries of ‘Death to the Aristocrats’.84 All the while, politicians and members of the public complained about alleged spying on political activity. Even though he sympathised with the dissidents’ liberal ideals, Palmerston, the foreign secretary, was forced to defend the principle of surveillance in the House of Commons.85 The queen would have approved.


After 1848, the situation became more serious, when democratic revolutions swept across Europe, existentially challenging monarchical rule. They began in southern Europe and spread to around fifty nations, including France, Austria, the Netherlands, Denmark and Hungary. Tens of thousands of people died in the violence that followed. British politicians were in two minds, on the side of those rebelling against authoritarian governments, yet fearing their own radicals at home, the Chartists. Although unsettling, the overall effect was to leave Britain without a serious strategic competitor in Europe, allowing the country to focus on imperial expansion. Therefore, Britain’s official position was procrastination and a pragmatic neutrality, hoping no single state would gain the upper hand and quietly admiring the chaos in the capitals of its European competitors.


Nevertheless, Victoria was understandably agitated. Reading report after report from well-placed relatives describing murder across the Continent, she worried about the ease with which the revolutions were unfolding. Although it pleased the queen, Britain’s initial response was small: a new law would make treasonable language a punishable felony.86 She continued to worry, and soon found herself at odds with parts of her own government about how to intervene. Whether to place radicals under surveillance at home or even whether to launch covert actions abroad in support of them became contentious issues.


In September 1848, Palmerston approved a covert operation to support Sicilian rebels in their uprising against the king of Naples. Running counter to British professions of neutrality, the government allowed stocks of arms from the War Office to be sold on to the rebels via a British arms manufacturer.87 Palmerston neglected to tell the queen, who was livid when The Times broke the story early the following year. Victoria was ‘startled’ to learn that ‘this was done and sanctioned by Lord Palmerston!!’88


The queen was particularly furious because, despite the supposed neutrality, her sympathies throughout the revolutions lay with monarchs. To make matters worse, she and Albert had earlier said that if Sicily did become independent, they would rather it be under a monarchy than a republic. She felt that Palmerston had deliberately misrepresented this view by letting his colleagues believe that the crown supported the rebels.89


After the Times exposé, Victoria knew her government could not plausibly deny the operation; neither could they defend it. Britain would therefore have to apologize. She detested having to do so, viewing it as a humiliating affront. From her own sources, she knew that leaders across Europe assumed Britain was covertly supporting rebellion.90 In damage limitation mode, Victoria and Albert pushed – unsuccessfully – for Palmerston’s resignation.91 Britain abandoned support for the Sicilians, after which rather predictably Neapolitan forces quickly regained control of the island.92


The Sicilian case was not a one-off. At the same time, Victoria and Palmerston had been at loggerheads about the latter’s sympathy for Sardinian attempts to drive Austria out of northern Italy. Once again, Palmerston was prepared to offer secret assistance to the rebels.93


Meanwhile, foreign governments continued to persuade the British to spy on prominent political exiles. To achieve this, they regularly sent intelligence to monarch and ministers alike exaggerating the threat. This included intelligence from Prussia stating that Karl Marx was plotting to assassinate the queen,94 and a stream of alarmist warnings about the terrorist threat to the 1851 Great Exhibition held in London – the most ridiculous of which involved revolutionaries disguised as trees.95 Victoria astutely paid little notice of ‘absurd reports of dangers of every kind and sort’, and instead lavished praise on Albert for his role in organizing the event. He had proved wrong all of those ‘mischievous’ people who up until midnight on the day the exhibition opened ‘maintained something dreadful would happen!’96


The queen was more worried about revolutionaries plotting against monarchs abroad. In October 1851, she implored Palmerston not to meet a leading Hungarian nationalist, Lajos Kossuth, who was touring the country and making inflammatory speeches.97 She knew from her own correspondence that foreign governments, watching closely, were deeply unimpressed by Britain’s lack of empathy with the public order problems they faced. Palmerston’s intention to meet Kossuth encapsulated this neatly. As a result, and ‘disgusted’ by the whole spectacle, she stretched her constitutional powers to the limit and was on the verge of demanding Palmerston’s resignation.98 Eventually, under pressure from Cabinet as well as the crown, Palmerston acquiesced and resigned, but the episode left Victoria with a bitter taste.99 The eventual breaking point had been Palmerston’s support for French revolutionaries, which annoyed even his most supportive Cabinet colleagues. Albert was delighted and wrote to his relatives: ‘Give a rogue a rope and he will hang himself’.100


Although Kossuth only stayed in Britain for three weeks, the government kept him under surveillance afterwards, hoping to catch him doing something illegal. Only eighteen months later, Queen Victoria was pleased when, after a successful intelligence operation, Albert told her that a rocket factory suspected to have been under Kossuth’s direction had been seized and 800 rockets confiscated.101


The queen feared Kossuth was the tip of a republican iceberg. Her sources on the Continent warned her of ‘rumours of plots directed from London’ aiming for ‘the assassination of all Monarchs’.102 She learnt, among other things, that European leaders believed Britain planned to ‘destroy the Austrian Empire’ and that London had become a menagerie of revolutionaries ‘kept to be let occasionally loose on the Continent to render its quiet and prosperity impossible’.103 Victoria did not believe them all, but she was supportive of the underlying issue. Monarchs had a right to respect and loyalty; any hint of insubordination should not be encouraged.104 After hearing of violence in Vienna, she thought of all ‘her dear ones’ stuck in ‘the possession of the mob’. The queen did not mince her words: ‘these horrible Republicans should be exterminated’.105


In short, Britain was a reservoir of rebellious ideas in the midnineteenth century. Victoria’s European counterparts begged her to intervene against the government’s lenient policy on protecting revolutionaries.106 Yet the queen felt powerless: parliament would do little in terms of deportation or even surveillance.107 This led to frequent clashes with Palmerston who was much more sympathetic to the nationalism unfolding on the Continent. She had feared Palmerston was withholding information from her about his own meddling in foreign affairs and, drawing on her royal intelligence networks, worried that his hectoring of foreign monarchs was making Britain unpopular in Europe.108


Frustrated by the experience, Victoria successfully blocked the appointment of Lord Clarendon as Palmerston’s successor as foreign secretary in 1851. Her rationale was instructive: she thought him too fond of ‘diplomatic intrigue’ and ‘spying’.109 When a new prime minister, Lord Derby, took office shortly afterwards, she wasted little time in warning him against the dangers of ‘Diplomatists and Agents’ and the harm that ‘intrigue’ had done to Britain’s international reputation as the revolutions had played out.110 She relied on her own dynastic network to keep her updated and opposed secret activity conducted by her ministers that undermined European monarchism. Intelligence was fine; so long as it suited the queen’s interests.


Accordingly, Victoria was pleased when Palmerston, back as home secretary, discovered ‘some incendiary papers’ printed for Mazzini and Kossuth. They finally constituted a crime that could be prosecuted, although another minister dampened expectations by warning that the ‘detective Police were very inefficient’. She would have been equally pleased by the new foreign secretary’s suggestion that ‘there were many little services we might render’ to the Austrian government giving them notice of the movements of ‘these dangerous Refugees’.111


The surveillance issue climaxed in 1858. On the night of 14 January, an Italian revolutionary and one-time follower of Mazzini, Felice Orsini, attempted to assassinate the French emperor, hoping to trigger a revolution that would spread to Italy. Orsini and a couple of accomplices threw three hand grenades at the emperor and his wife as they attended the Paris opera. He missed his target but killed numerous bystanders. Such an attack was not unusual in this period and Victoria quickly received reams of telegrams bringing her the latest intelligence from Paris and providing gory details.112


Orsini’s London connections proved more troubling. After a dramatic and daring escape from an Austrian prison in 1855, he had fled to London and published popular accounts of his adventures. Orsini’s plot to kill the emperor was hatched in London and the bomb, which bore his name, was made in Birmingham. Unsurprisingly, the French authorities quickly accused the Foreign Office of having turned a blind eye to his activities and demanded that Britain restrict the right to asylum.113


Although annoyed at the criticisms of her country, Victoria accepted the point.114 She agreed that ‘were similar assassins to be tolerated in France & came over to attempt to do something against us here, the whole British nation would demand instant reparation’.115 Accordingly, she supported surveillance of Orsini’s former lodgings and moves to make conspiracy to murder abroad a felony. Both responses would have involved stepping up the intelligence effort against refugees.


Detectives quickly investigated Orsini’s old neighbourhood. The task fell to Jonathan Sanders, specializing in surveillance of foreign nationals. Unfortunately, witnesses saw him rummaging around without a warrant, thereby causing unwelcome publicity and criticism.116 The inflammatory incident undermined Sanders’ careful attempts not to give credence to accusations that the government used political espionage, French-style.


The second response, a bill making conspiracy to murder abroad a felony, was less successful still. The following month, the government dramatically fell after losing a parliamentary vote on this contentious issue. In an ironic twist, the outgoing prime minister was none other than Lord Palmerston, now trying to curb, rather than encourage, continental rebellion.117 This time, the queen had nothing but sympathy and tried to convince him not to resign. She was particularly frustrated by Palmerston’s opponents, writing with disdain about how Orsini had been a regular house guest of Thomas Gibson, the member of parliament who had dramatically censured the government.118 For now, Palmerston, whose views on revolutions had so frustrated Victoria, was out of office. The queen was relieved that his successor, Lord Derby, had ‘behaved remarkably well on the Conspiracy Bill’.119 The new foreign secretary, the earl of Malmesbury, told the queen that ‘letters from private sources’ in France now indicated that criticism of Britain would subside.120
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IN THE FIRST two decades of her reign, Victoria had been an intelligence gatherer, analyst and consumer. She learnt quickly and understood intelligence broadly, encouraging her extensive dynastic network to send her insights on European attitudes and intentions. As she grew in confidence, she clashed with her governments about sensitive issues of surveillance and covertly supporting rebels, which placed her in a difficult position. She demanded secret material and berated ministers if ever they kept things from her. Still fairly inexperienced, though, she often felt powerless to change things directly. Thereafter, the rise of Germany, a country to which she held great affinity, in the 1860s served only to increase the tension between monarchical and state intelligence. And again, Victoria had all the best-placed intelligence sources. She now grew more confident to use them to outmanoeuvre her governments.
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QUEEN VICTORIA’S SECRETS: WAR AND THE RISE OF GERMANY


‘It is evident the whole is a Prussian intrigue’


Queen Victoria, 18661


RULING FROM THE very public location of Buckingham Palace, Queen Victoria sat at the pinnacle of a vast private intelligence network spanning the European continent. Victoria’s network frustrated her ministers, but it proved useful on many occasions. Intelligence now became a battleground in the broader European struggle for modern nation states. Here, Victoria’s intelligence allowed her to stretch her powers to the limit, influence Cabinet, and even help prevent war.


Britain and France had a tense and complex relationship in the 1850s. The French resented Britain’s provocatively welcoming attitude towards European dissidents; the British resented French despotism with all its illiberal penumbrae of shadowy police spies and political surveillance. At the same time, the two rivals joined forces to prevent Russia from exploiting the demise of the Ottoman Empire and gaining access to the strategically important Mediterranean.


The Crimean War, fought in the Balkans, Black Sea and the Baltic between 1853 and 1856, pitted Britain, France and the Ottoman Empire against Imperial Russia. Unfortunately for Victoria, Russia was an intelligence black hole. Three factors explain this: first, Britain still had no organized intelligence service – nor even a proper military intelligence department; second, even though the invention of the telegraph drastically sped up communication, gaps in the network caused lengthy delays in information reaching London; and third, the queen’s royal intelligence network proved less useful on political affairs in the Russian capital so far away where less European nobility circulated.


Although there was little to go on, the queen impatiently demanded updates. She tried to keep a close eye on diplomatic manoeuvrings in the run-up to hostilities, but much of what reached the palace was confused and contradictory. In August 1853, after the Russian tsar had sent troops towards the Balkans, Victoria gratefully received what she called ‘very satisfactory telegraphic intelligence’ from the prime minister, Lord Aberdeen, that Russia had accepted a peaceful resolution.2 After the Ottomans scuppered this, she became increasingly alarmed at reports coming from the region.3 Victoria’s cousin, the duke of Cambridge, special emissary to the queen from Constantinople, informed her of the ‘wretched’ state of the Turkish military. Meanwhile, her pro-Turkish ambassador in Constantinople deliberately interpreted any Russian communications he could get his hands on as evidence of Russian aggression. It took weeks for their letters to arrive at Buckingham Palace, creating much confusion.4 The queen grew impatient.


Aberdeen promised that there was ‘very little chance’ of a Russian attack. Accordingly, Victoria approved the despatch of a naval fleet to Turkey that autumn on the assumption that it would not see action. This ‘intelligence’, as she called it, proved entirely wrong.5 British commanders set sail lacking basic information about the remote region’s terrain and climate, let alone secret intelligence about Russian intentions or battle plans. Staggeringly, they did not even own a proper map.6


Back home, newspapers claimed to have unmasked a spy of an entirely different kind. In January 1854, rumours began to circulate that Prince Albert was a Russian agent. The prince had been part of British public life for well over a decade, but remained a constitutional anomaly. As a proud German, he had never entirely fitted in. Newspapers now peddled innuendo questioning his loyalty. They accused him of orchestrating foreign relations with German princes behind ministers’ backs and of thwarting any British policy that undermined his own interests. Prussia, one of the most prominent German states, supported the tsar because of inter-marriage and, at a time of international tension, accusations unfairly extended to Albert being a Russian spy.7


Victoria was livid and thought the attacks ‘abominable’. In combative mood, she expressed ‘intense indignation’ to her government.8 Consoling her, Lord Aberdeen said that very few people shared these views and that he had received some information about the origins of the attacks.9 Although he stopped short of saying what this information was, rumours circulated that the French had covertly planted the anti-Albert articles as part of a propaganda operation to undermine British sympathies towards Germany.10 Interestingly, the queen had heard that ‘Russian intrigue’, as she described it, was very active in Paris, where agents were trying to prevent the French from joining the war effort.11


Whatever the cause, thousands of gullible Londoners assembled at the Tower of London, wildly believing that Albert was about to be imprisoned for treason. ‘One word more about the credulity of the public,’ Albert wrote to a friend on 24 January 1854. ‘You will scarcely believe that my being committed to the Tower was believed all over the country – nay, even “that the Queen had been arrested!”’ The prime minister was forced to publicly extoll Albert’s ‘unimpeachable loyalty to the Crown and Country’ before the attacks subsided.12


In truth, Albert was both busy and patriotic. He was lobbying ministers with enough letters to now fill some fifty volumes in the Royal Archives. He drew up detailed plans to raise a force of 15,000 foreigners to fight in the conflict with Russia. The government politely declined.13 Despite her intelligence and over ten years of experience with world affairs, Victoria felt out of her depth with military matters and the war increased Albert’s influence; it now became commonplace for him to meet with the prime minister alone. Though very much in love, Victoria and Albert were also engaged in a power struggle. Albert acquired more of Victoria’s government work as her pregnancies forced her to step aside. Victoria was grateful for the support, but she deeply resented being robbed of her powers as queen.14


As war in Crimea intensified, improvements in the telegraph network dramatically decreased the amount of time it took for information to reach London from the theatre. In spring 1854 it took around five days; a year later it took only a few hours.15 Unfortunately, there was still little intelligence to report. ‘If only there was more news from the front,’ the queen complained. ‘If only one knew the details.’ She demanded that the secretary of state for war tell her everything. He had little to tell.16


Most of the reporting came from newspapers. The new position of ‘war correspondent’, sending back detailed updates at the same speed as diplomatic reporting, infuriated senior soldiers. One effectively accused The Times of treason, complaining that the Russians no longer needed spies for they could read all about British developments in the newspaper.17 He had a point: the tsar did indeed exclaim that ‘we have no need of spies, we have The Times’.18 The royal couple, although always eager for information, prized secrecy above all else. Victoria was ‘much disgusted’ with the journalists; Albert melodramatically feared that ‘soon there will not be room enough in the same country for both the Monarchy and The Times’.19


Sometimes the queen did successfully beat the press to sensitive material from Crimea. In March 1854, her royal messenger brought secret intelligence from the British consul at St Petersburg. It was so sensitive that he had not dared put it on paper. Once safely inside Buckingham Palace, he told Victoria about Russian preparations to lay new forms of explosives, which could be detonated remotely, underneath ice sheets. The Russians, he continued, planned to entice the British fleet into icy northern waters off the coast of St Petersburg, which became a forgotten theatre of the Crimean War, before attacking from the rear.20 His intelligence was improbable, but it was hurriedly despatched to the naval forces that had left for the Baltic earlier in the month.


The Crimean theatre was more significant. Here, by the middle of 1854, Charles Cattley, a multilingual British diplomat with long experience of the region, began to improvise a military intelligence department. Indeed, Cattley had grown up in Russia and his family was still there, forcing him to adopt a cover name to ensure their safety.21 The foreign secretary, Lord Clarendon, was so impressed that he told the queen straight away about Cattley’s methods, sources and intelligence. Cattley, Clarendon eagerly recounted, had gained valuable intelligence on enemy morale, learning that Russian soldiers did not want to fight. ‘We curse that old tyrant and brute Nicholas,’ they had told him, ‘for dragging us from our homes.’ The queen listened intently. She thought it ‘pretty strong language’.22


Early the following year, the duke of Newcastle, secretary of state for war, told Queen Victoria that Cattley had taken charge of a nascent ‘department of intelligence’.23 His sources included Polish deserters, Russian forces and Muslim Crimean Tartars. He was willing to conduct interrogations, but, so desperate were the conditions on the ground, he gained much of his intelligence by simply providing food and warm shelter. He also ran several ‘Tartar’ spies.


As a result, Cattley tracked Russian troop movements and provided invaluable intelligence for operational planning. His main contribution was professional order of battle reports on the numbers and movements of the enemy; it made a considerable difference in battles across the theatre.


Unfortunately, the success was short-lived; Cattley died of cholera in 1855.24 So important was his intelligence that Queen Victoria herself described his death as ‘such a serious loss’.25 Shortly afterwards, she grew frustrated that ‘with the head of the Intelligence Department dead’, Britain now had ‘no means left’ whereby ‘to gather information or keep up secret correspondence’ with sources.26


Perhaps the most vexing aspect of the war for Victoria was the lack of secrecy. With the arrival of the telegraph and aggressive war reporting it was impossible to hide the weak progress. Led by gentlemen who knew little of modern warfare, equipped with obsolete weapons and often short of ammunitions, soldiers died mostly of dysentery and pneumonia. They were more at danger from their own side than from the enemy, who were no more competent. Dissatisfaction with the running of the war increased and, in January 1855, parliament appointed a select committee to probe this. Aberdeen resigned and was replaced by Palmerston, the royal couple’s least favourite minister. It was no surprise that both Albert and Victoria had hated the frank and fearless war reporting of The Times.


Despite the setback, Victoria was determined to maintain as good an understanding of events in Crimea as possible. She developed an impressive grasp of allied positions, personally signed the commission of every officer, and wrote encouraging letters to generals in the field.27 ‘You never saw anyone,’ the secretary of state for war told the commander in the region, ‘so entirely taken up with military affairs as she is.’28 On 18 April 1855, Windsor Castle hosted a one-day war council attended by Albert.29 A few days later, Victoria joined in a less formal discussion, describing it as ‘one of the most interesting things I ever was present at’.30 Her persistent pestering of ministers had paid off, placing her well inside the loop. In September, she received ‘with deep emotion, the welcome intelligence of the fall of Sebastapol’, the capital of Crimea and perhaps the final phase of the war.31


British victory was achieved in early 1856, and the queen found out in the most curious manner. Just before midnight on 16 January, as she was about to go to bed, secret news of a peace settlement arrived via the king of Prussia. It left Victoria ‘astounded and indeed startled’. Oddly, although the telegram was not written in code and the king had openly signed his name, he begged her not to mention him as the source.32 The deal was still a secret. She and Albert decided that the operators along the whole line of the telegraph must have already read the king’s message and so, against his wishes, passed on both its content and provenance to the foreign secretary.33


Victoria was more sceptical than her Prussian counterpart about whether this deal would actually result in a bona fide peace settlement and, sure enough, it was a slow process. The following month Clarendon tried to update her about various diplomatic setbacks, but, once again, Victoria had already heard the ‘intelligence’, as she called it, through her private channels.34 Both sides eventually signed a peace agreement in March 1856, denying Russia access to a warm-water port in the south and returning occupied territory to the Ottoman Empire. Victoria was unimpressed with the final deal, but begrudgingly accepted it.35


In fact, Albert and Victoria were busy developing their own ‘northern’ strategy focused on the Baltic. British intelligence was better there and they were convinced that they could defeat Russia’s famous Kronstadt fortress, repeating Anglo-French success against an island fort off the coast of Finland two years earlier. They were hoping for more spoils and more victories. So, on 11 March 1856, Victoria wrote in her diary, ‘I own that peace rather sticks in my throat, and so it does in that of the whole nation’.36 Some twenty thousand British troops had died and yet, with Russia finally on the ropes, the war had been allowed to end prematurely due to French pressure. Russia soon ignored the more restrictive parts of the peace treaty.37
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PRUSSIA HAD FRUSTRATED Victoria throughout the Crimean War. She accused the king, who had oscillated between supposed neutrality and support for the tsar, of falling victim to ‘Russian intrigues’.38 How she would have loved a source close to the Prussian government, especially as Prussia would become increasingly significant to European intrigues over the following decades. The end of the Crimean War left France as the dominant continental land power, sparking a chain of events leading to the unification of Germany in 1871.


Princess Victoria, known affectionately as Vicky, was Queen Victoria’s eldest child. Close to both her parents, but her father in particular, Vicky was a bright and precocious child, who, at eleven years old, had escorted the crown prince of Prussia, nine years her senior, around the Great Exhibition. She was fourteen when they met again at Balmoral. Victoria and Albert hoped that a marriage between the two would cement relations between London and Berlin, perhaps encouraging a more liberal Prussia in the process. Vicky married Crown Prince Frederick, known to the family as Fritz, in January 1858.


Married to the heir, the young princess had an instant place at the heart of the Prussian court. Vicky became an outstandingly well-placed source of intelligence. She sent over four thousand letters back to her mother, often full of sensitive details about state affairs. The value of this was not lost on her parents and, before his death in 1861, Albert regularly looked to her for intelligence, supplementing his own German contacts. In 1859, when Prussia mobilized against France, it was Vicky who provided the best material, including military plans.39


Vicky was a foreigner in a strange court. Her split loyalties put her in a difficult position and she suffered similar problems to her father. Like Albert, she faced accusations of being a spy; unlike Albert, she actually was sending sensitive information back to her homeland. Victoria warned her eldest daughter, soon after marrying Fritz, about spies in the palace and on one occasion berated her for sending a sensitive letter by unsecured post rather than private messenger.40 Otto von Bismarck, the ambitious minister president of Prussia, was under no illusions. To him, Vicky was nothing less than an English agent, and he interpreted her intimacy with Queen Victoria as potentially treasonous.41 As his influence grew, Bismarck sought to freeze her out.


Vicky not only provided intelligence but also acted as an agent of influence. As Albert’s favourite child and protégé, she promoted her father’s vision of a more liberal Germany against the thoroughly autocratic style of the emperor. Highly educated and fluent in several languages, she was up to date on the latest social and political theories. She eventually read the works of Karl Marx to ensure that she had a proper understanding of socialism, but such behaviour did not find favour in the Prussian court. Marx had been exiled from Germany in 1849 because of his ideas and was living in London, alongside Mazzini and other rebels.42


In July 1863, someone leaked letters between Fritz and his father, the king of Prussia, to the newspapers. They revealed Fritz’s opposition to the king’s high-handed rule. The mole was none other than Vicky herself. It was a secretive attempt to undermine the king and covertly influence Prussia in a more liberal direction.43 The Times praised Vicky’s liberal values and her support for the prince’s protests against Prussia’s slide towards tyranny.


The leaks infuriated the king; but they infuriated Bismarck even more and he quickly accused Fritz of being too indiscreet with his wife. The king, he counselled opportunistically, should no longer trust his son.44 Meanwhile, Vicky gave her mother the inside track on the fallout from what she ‘will have no doubt seen’ in the newspapers.45 A few weeks later she wrote: ‘I send you all the papers so that you may see what Fritz has done, said, and written!’46 Bismarck had a point.


The so-called Schleswig-Holstein question, the status of two small duchies in northern Europe, presented another opportunity for Vicky to provide useful intelligence to her demanding mother. The death of her father three years earlier had made her reporting from Germany even more important.


With both countries claiming rights over the duchies, war broke out between Denmark and Prussia in February 1864. The causes were painfully intricate, combining Prussian nationalist aspirations, the succession of the Danish monarchy, and Danish violation of a treaty signed after the first Schleswig-Holstein war in 1852. ‘The Schleswig-Holstein question,’ Lord Palmerston, the prime minister, famously quipped, ‘is so complicated, only three men in Europe have ever understood it. One was Prince Albert, who is dead. The second was a German professor who became mad. I am the third and I have forgotten all about it.’


After refreshing his memory, Palmerston intended to intervene in support of Denmark. Queen Victoria’s natural sympathies lay with the Germans, and, desperate to avoid war with Prussia, she insisted her ministers tone down their threats in defence of Denmark.47 There were problems for Vicky too. The previous year, her brother Bertie, heir to the throne, had married Princess Alexandra of Denmark instead of a German woman and the public blamed Vicky for encouraging this. Now that war had broken out between Prussia and Denmark, many suspected her of supporting the Danish on behalf of her new sister-in-law, although in fact, like her mother, she supported the Germans.


At the start of February, as German troops crossed into Schleswig, the foreign secretary, John Russell, continued to agitate for intervention to help the Danes. Victoria countered that neither France nor Russia would support him. Not trusting the queen’s advice, Russell double-checked via his own intelligence channels and found St Petersburg open to a naval demonstration. The queen was furious. As the Germans marched north, Palmerston and Russell pressed for naval forces to be sent to the Baltic to defend Copenhagen. The queen refused – and received Cabinet backing.48 Once again Palmerston and Victoria were at odds and they were effectively running rival intelligence networks to promote their opposing policies.


Vicky’s intelligence proved invaluable in helping the queen rebuff calls for British intervention. Throughout February 1864, she sent bundles of sensitive material on intentions, progress of battles, weather conditions, and even letters written by her husband’s aidede-camp.49 She continually updated her mother on the animosity between Britain and Prussia, which, she thought, was ‘kept up by foolish trifles which could be avoided’. The meddling queen used these insights to prevent a rupture of British-Prussian relations.50


Another source of royal intelligence came from Laurence Oliphant. A celebrated mystic, author and traveller, Oliphant was a freelance amateur who had already undertaken intelligence missions in Italy and Poland.51 When Queen Victoria’s sister-in-law, the duchess of nearby Coburg, asked to have an ‘able agent’ sent to Schleswig-Holstein to send back intelligence on attitudes towards its monarchy, Oliphant was the obvious candidate.52 He spent time in the duchies and then with Vicky in Prussia, before reporting back to the queen in person at Windsor Castle and updating her on likely outcomes of the crisis. He warned that Bismarck clearly wanted to ‘get the Duchies for Prussia’, but wrongly predicted that ‘his rule could not last long’. Bismarck’s power actually grew and he remained in place till 1890.53
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